
April 26, 2023 



2



Metropolitan Transit Commission April 26, 2023 Agenda 

METROPOLITAN TRANSIT COMMISSION 
Wednesday, April 26, 2023 

5:30pm 
Charlotte-Mecklenburg Government Center 

Conference Room 267 - WebEx  
AGENDA 

I. Call to Order ...................................................................................................... Mayor Vi Lyles 
• Attendance (Roll Call)

II. Approval of the March 22, 2023 Summary (p.5-64) ......................................... Mayor Vi Lyles 

III. Public Comments

IV. NCDOT State Safety Oversight Presentation ....................................................... Jason Orthner 

V. MTC March Meeting Action Follow-Up (p.66-417) .............................................. Brent Cagle 
Legal – Patrick Baker (p.68-70) 
City Council – Ed Driggs (p.72-77) 
City Manager – Marcus Jones (p.78-80) 
Scope of Work – (p.82-85) 

VI. Interim Chief Executive Officer’s Report (p.419-429) ........................................... Brent Cagle 

VII. Informational Items
• Service Level Update (p.431-438) .......................................................... Jason Lawrence 
• Silver Line LPA and Amity Garden Station Update (p.440-447) ................. Andy Mock 
• Title 6 – Fare Capping Analysis (p.449-471) ............................................ Arlanda Rouse 

VIII. Action Items
• FY2024 Proposed Operating & Debt Services Budget (p.480-489) ............. Brent Cagle 

FY2024-28 Capital Investment Plan (p.473-482) ....................................... Chad Howell 

IX. Report from the Chair of the Transit Service Advisory Committee (TSAC) ........ Jarrett Hurms 

X. Report from the Chair of the Citizens Transit Advisory Group (CTAG) ......... Edward Tillman 

XI. Adjourn

3



4



Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 1 of 30 

METROPOLITAN TRANSIT COMMISSION 
MEETING SUMMARY 

March 22, 2023 

Presiding:  Mayor Vi Lyles, City of Charlotte 

Present:  
County Commissioner Leigh Altman (BOCC) 
Marcus Jones (City Manager, City of Charlotte) 
Mayor Woody Washam (Town of Cornelius) 
Andrew Grant (Town Manager, Cornelius) 
Mayor Rusty Knox (Town of Davidson) 
Mayor Melinda Bales (Town of Huntersville) 

Anthony Roberts (Town Manager, Huntersville) 
Mayor Brad Simmons (Town of Mint Hill) 
Brian Welch (Town Manager, Mint Hill) 
Mayor Jack Edwards (Town of Pineville) 
Bill Thunberg (Town of Mooresville) 
Mayor Walker Reid III (City of Gastonia) 

Interim CATS Chief Executive Officer:  Brent Cagle 

I. Call to Order
The hybrid regular meeting of Metropolitan Transit Commission was called to order at 5:30pm
by MTC Chairwoman Mayor Vi Lyles, City of Charlotte.

II. Review of Meeting Summary
The Special meeting summary of January 31, 2023 was approved.

III. MTC Chairwoman Opening Discussion
MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  First what I'd like to do is take a couple of minutes as

Chair to talk about our agenda for the night.  This morning I said that I concurred with our
former Chair and Commissioner Leigh Altman that a comprehensive review of the maintenance
and safety of CATS was required.  I also said that we need a deeper dive into the Management
Partners review of CATS.  Tonight, I think this is when we begin this process.

If we are going to do this review, we need to create a scope of services based on the
Management Partners review as well as on the maintenance and safety issues that we have.  I
believe that anything that we move going forward needs to be approved by the MTC and
contract that will be done by the City of Charlotte.  The next step that I believe is important is to
have a candid conversation in this room with members that are often sitting here every month
hearing these reports and hearing the reaction to the scrutiny of the items that we've been
having and really cannot ignore.

What I'd like to do today is to really rearrange our agenda so that we can receive a
report from our Interim CATS CEO, any reports that we'd like to hear from our city manager, and
then open it up for a discussion because I know that everyone has thoughts and ideas about
what we can and should do and how we should act.  But at the end of the day the next step is to
make sure that we're moving forward with the issues that we have to incorporate to make sure
that CATS has the ability to operate reliably and safely in this community.

Transportation services are essential to the way that we live, work, and play, and
without those services being there, this community will suffer, individuals in this community,
our residents will suffer, and so we have to take the real effort to have a forward look to say
how do we do this.  So I'm going to begin this process by asking our Interim CEO to give us a
report regarding the May 21, 2022 derailment, and I want us to recognize that this is going to be

5



Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 2 of 30 

a discussion for everyone, including the members of our committees that have helped advise us, 
including those partners that are nonvoting members, that we also have a report not only on 
maintenance and safety, but we have a report that walks us through the Management Partners' 
recommendations step by step. 

I have said that I think it's time for us to consider how do we structure this.  I think one 
of our primary efforts around MTC and the City of Charlotte has got to be examined and looked 
at in a way that perhaps gets us ready to have an authority that runs this operation so that there 
is clarity of purpose and authority.   

COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  Madam Chair, I have a point of 
order. 

MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  Yes. 

COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  I was advised by the county attorney 
at the beginning of the meeting that in order to take an action that is not already on the agenda 
there would need to be a unanimous vote at the beginning of the meeting.  And as I do have an 
action item in the form of voting to appoint an outside transit expert to evaluate these issues, I 
would like to put that forward. 

MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  I agree that we ought to have that and that is an 
appropriate action.  I'd like to have a discussion here from our community leaders as well as 
members in this room on what we should be trying to accomplish and do.  We need a scope of 
services if we're going to have something.  And that scope of services, because MTC is a policy 
board, should include the conversations that we have and set out as our determinations for that 
kind of review and scope.  I hope that we can do that, and we can have your motion after we 
hear from the report and that we could gather our thoughts around each of these issues. 

COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  I defer to the MTC attorney.  He 
advised me that we had to queue up the ability to even vote later at the beginning of the 
meeting. 

CATS ATTORNEY BRAD THOMAS:  Yes.  Our MTC Rules of Procedure provide for that if 
we don't have an item on the agenda but we wish to take action on that item for tonight's 
meeting, that in order to make it an action item we will need to take a vote and that vote will be 
unanimous in order for it to appear as an action item then for our discussion.  As long as that is 
done before a discussion happens, we can do that. 

MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  We can do that before the discussion after we have 
our staff reports.  I think the other thing that I really would like to see is that we have out of our 
membership of 7, four.  And those that are on -- well, five and six.  I really would like to see 
Matthews participate in this discussion and any other folks that have an opportunity to think 
about it.  I agree that we can have the discussion, but I want us to make sure in some way we 
include in that discussion the opportunity for others to be able to participate either by email or 
comments, however we need to do that, so that we don't miss anyone. 

IV. Interim Chief Executive Officer’s Report – Based on pages 27-32 in the MTC Agenda Packet for
March 22nd, 2023 meeting. 

6



   
Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 3 of 30 

• Management Partners’ Update presented by Marcus Jones (City Manager, City of 
Charlotte, Liz Babson, Assistant City Manager, City of Charlotte & Brent Cagle, Interim 
Chief Executive Officer, Charlotte Area Transit System) based on pages 34-39 in the MTC 
Agenda Packet for March 22nd, 2023 

  
 Discussion: 

 CITY MANAGER MARCUS JONES (Charlotte):  I do want to talk a little bit about how we 
came about the Management Partners report and a lot of words that have been shared today in 
terms of responsibility and accountability.  I will tell you, as the City Manager of the City of 
Charlotte, what we call Team Charlotte, we have about 8000 employees.  We have offices that 
have as few as a dozen employees and some departments, like police where we have almost 
2000 employees. 
 We have departments that are regional in nature, like Charlotte Water as well as the 
aviation department, and we have a strong record of operations with CMPD or fire or solid 
waste services or CDOT, but sometimes our departments need an outside assessment and 
sometimes there are issues.  Those issues, whether it's in communication or operations or 
leadership, and we welcome those reviews.  
 Last year, as CATS was going through many challenges, we did a couple of things.  One, 
we created an internal team which Liz Babson as Assistant City Manager really spear-headed it, 
and we also had Brent Cagle, an ACM, as well as Jason Snyder and Sarah Hazel, trying to see 
some of the things that were happening with CATS and some of the deficiencies that we were 
seeing. 
 Then we actually brought in, or I called in, the external review of Management Partners.  
What Brent will talk to you tonight about, as well as Liz, is some of the things that were found in 
that report, including questions about leadership, management, and culture. I will tell you that 
since that report has been released, I would call the C Suite of CATS, is totally different.  In other 
words, the CEO and CFO and the COO are no longer a part of CATS.  Some of those issues are 
personnel, which we don't discuss, but what I will tell you is it's an opportunity to take a look at 
the Management Partners report and see how we can build on this. 
 Brent and I are committed to making sure that there is also an outside assessment as 
relates to assets that are a part of CATS, and what I do know is that Brent is willing, able, and 
ready to communicate with what is happening and really build that trust.  I just wanted to try to 
focus this on how we got here with the Management Partners report and some of the 
information that we had that we're trying to build on now, so I'll turned it over to you, Liz. 
 
 ASSISTANT CITY MANAGER LIZ BABSON (Charlotte):  Happy to be here this evening 
with you, Madam Mayor, Madam Chair, and MTC members.  As City Manager Marcus Jones just 
mentioned, we engaged Management Partners back last year, and that was really following a 
July 16th memo that he wrote to City Council and the Mayor acknowledging that we were 
seeing some operational challenges in CATS at that time.  It was resulting from many of the 
things that we're seeing across the country in the way of labor shortages, employee morale.  
There were some safety concerns many of us were familiar with and hearing about in the media, 
and all of these were really impacting our reliability of service and our ability to provide that 
reliable service to the community. 
 The memo laid out a number of things you see here on the screen, some short-term 
improvements but also identified some longer-term needs.  And again, it's important to 
understand that all of these things work together in a comprehensive way to really help assess 
the operation of the organization of CATS as a department.  The manager committee to 

7



   
Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 4 of 30 

immediately evaluating current practices looking for opportunities to ensure a safe environment 
for our bus operators and CATS employees, Brent will talk a little bit more about that as he goes 
through the work that he's done in the first 90 days in his role as the interim CATS CEO.  Last 
year City Council adopted a really aggressive compensation plan that was designed to increase 
retention and recruitment, and we're seeing some vacancy trends starting to shift across the 
organization and within CATS at this time as a result of those changes.  
 Then finally, as we've talked about, we engagement Management Partners as an outside 
agency to really come in and take a look and do an organizational review and assessment of 
CATS.  This was a high level review.  I'll talk about over the next couple of slides some of that 
information and the way in which we collected information in working with the consultant. 
 Again, that review would assess organizational structure and leadership, it would look 
specifically at procurement and contract oversight, employee morale, contract relationship with 
our current contract provider for bus operations, and service provision and bus reliability.  
Counsel and MTC received that assessment late last year.  Again, it was a high-level road map 
that really identified ways in which  we could start to look at improving the organization, but it 
also serves as a long-term action plan for us. 
 We talk a little bit about the process that they went through, Management Partners, to 
collect and assess the current operations within CATS.  They conducted a number of interviews 
with city employees and also with our contractor serving the bus operations, RATP Dev 
Management.  They reviewed tons of documents, including budgets, audit performance 
reviews, strategic plans, customer service satisfaction reviews.  They also surveyed all of the City 
of Charlotte CATS employees and conducted a limited review of other transit agencies across 
the country. 
 Again, this was a high level overview but just the start of a much more comprehensive 
process that we're going to undertake, and you'll hear some about some of the work that Brent 
is doing today as we speak, and then you'll hear more some of the next steps and the actions 
that we want to take.  Out of that Management Partners assessment was a road map with 
objectives, and those are the ones you see listed on the screen, was a collaborative team with 
shared mission and values, an organizational culture that encourages transparency and staff 
retention, clear expectations and accountability throughout the organization, clarified roles and 
responsibilities related to this contract and services because there was confusion within the 
organization about how that occurred, and then a governance structure that's accountable and 
transparent to the community that it serves. 
 

INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  Good evening, members of the MTC.  I always want to start 
off with some of the things that I think we've done well, some of the things that I learned that 
I'm proud of or encouraged by early successes.  One thing when I first started, the first two to 
three weeks, I spent a lot of time out in the field across all units, across all shifts talking to 
employees, and I was really encouraged by those conversations.  They shared with me 
challenges and they shared with me concerns, things that they see around the workplace that 
we can work on, that we can get better on, but one thing that they all said is they have a strong 
sense of pride working for CATS.  That's good.  They're proud of the work they do.  They want to 
provide excellent services to the community, to all of our citizens, and they understand how 
important CATS is to the entire region and keeping people moving across the region for mobility.  
I think that's good.  They are committed to working together to make CATS great, to make it a 
great organization, and that's the foundation.  Every great organization really starts with 
employees. 

8



   
Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 5 of 30 

 The other thing I will say is we have started to stabilize bus and rail operations.  In 
January our missed trips were less than 1%.  Our February numbers, they started to creep up a 
little bit.  They're in the 1 to 2% range, but again, that is a significant improvement from where 
we were in the summer of 2022 when we were seeing 8 to 9% missed trips monthly.  We've 
stabilized that. 
 Rail operations remains consistent with 20-minute headways and 15-minute peak hour 
headways.  And because I think we all know where this presentation is headed, I will go ahead 
and add in here the issues that we have related to operating restrictions have not changed the 
schedule for rail.  The rail schedule remains the same, even with the operating restrictions, 20-
minute headways plus 15-minute peak hour headways Monday through Friday, two hours 
beginning of the day, two hours into the day.  Then we also flex for special events to 15-minute 
headways, things like Charlotte FC or other large events Uptown.  That schedule has remained.  
It is unimpacted by the operating restrictions. 
 Now, the question might be -- and I ask this question because I'm simple sometimes, I 
don't get it -- I said if the trains are going 35 miles an hour when they used to go around 40 to 
45, how can that be.  The answer to that, without trying to get into the details, is if you were to 
get on the Blue Line today and ride from one end to the other -- because that car, that train that 
you're on is traveling slightly slower than it was before -- it would take longer.  The total amount 
of time increase is between 2 to 5 minutes depending on some variables, like how long each car 
dwells at each station. 
 When you look at it on short, and not a lot of people actually ride end to end on a 
routine basis, but if you look at it, station to station, then it can vary from no change to a little 
bit more, depending on how far apart each station it is.  But the headways have remained 
unchanged and the total travel time end to end has increased in the 2-to-5-minute range on the 
Blue Line.  Okay, s\So now we've cleared the air on that one. 
 I will also say I think that it was very good news that the new collective bargaining 
agreement is in place for our bus operators.  It is in place and an operator strike was avoided, 
and the bus operators were able to or are able in their new collective bargaining agreement to 
enjoy enhanced pay and benefits associated with that agreement. 
 The bus operations contract will be issued this month.  It is in its final prep stages, and 
we will be issuing that contract for RFP this month.  The current bus operations contract with 
RATP Dev expires in February of 2024, so we will be issuing the RFP, seeking proposals, and then 
making determinations, and if it's a different contractor than it is today, working with the 
current contractor and the new contractor to create a transition plan so that it is seamless, and 
our customers are not impacted by the changeover in the provider.  And then we're focusing on 
daily operations.  It's always our first priority to be safe and reliable in service. 
 The last point I'll make here, and Mr. Howell is going to talk about this in the next 
presentation, our budget is stable and we're meeting our financial targets.  Chad Howell is 
finalizing the collaborative budget.  I'm intentional to put that in there because one of the things 
that Management Partners talked about was a lack of understanding amongst internal CATS 
staff about how budget decisions were made.  And what that really means is if you were in a 
division and you have needs every year and you put those requests forward to the financial, to 
the CFO, as part of the budget process, they frequently were not informed as to how those 
decisions would be made, whether or not they were funded or not.  They found out on July 1st 
when the budget was approved.  That's not a great way to run a budget process.  If I've been 
with CATS 110 days I think, Chad has been with CATS 108 days.  He took on a pretty large 
challenge, but he's really been trying to change that culture and create a collaborative 
budgeting process. 

9



   
Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 6 of 30 

 The other thing, and you'll see more of this, is our focus, I think it's important in the 
budget to really define what your priorities are.  For me, my priorities are employees, for 
retention and recruitment and career development and training with our employees; safety and 
security and focus on training for our operators, especially de-escalation and customer service 
training; and additional security resources.  We know we need additional security resources to 
support our operators.  We also know the best way to keep our operators safe is for them to 
have the tools and the ability to de-escalate, and so we need to invest heavier in those de-
escalation trainings.  And then asset preservation, additional investments in rail and bus fleets 
and facilities. 
 Continued Work, Better Communication:  We can always be better in how we 
communicate.  We need to break down silence and create a shared mission and vision across 
the entire organization and as I said before, provide better communications around the budget 
process.  Secondly, we must start to spend on asset management.  We need to continue to have 
an aggressive bus replacement program.  A fair amount of our bus fleet is over the specified FTA 
useful life of 12 years.  Approximately 30% of our fleet is over that age, and that's around 100 
buses.  Our fleet is around 300 buses.  About 1/3 of it is over the 12-year useful life, about 100 
buses. 
 More concerning to me is that of those hundred there are a fair amount of those, 60 or 
70%, that are over 15 years of age.  That is concerning.  When we order buses it takes 18 to 24 
months to receive buses so we know now we are behind, and to get out of that we're going to 
have to be very aggressive, not just in the current year but probably for 3 to 5 years as we buy 
so we can lower the average age of our fleet and bring our fleet back into a better cycle for age 
of the fleet. 
 The other thing that we see is we must immediately implement rail fleet major 
maintenance programs and enter into service agreements to ensure the fleet is properly 
maintained.  We need to conduct a full facility assessment, conduct a major facility 
rehabilitation on CATS buildings, and prioritize the immediate hiring of an asset manager for 
CATS.  CATS has a Transit Asset Management Plan.  When we completed that plan, it was always 
our intention to hire an asset manager.  Unfortunately, that position has remained unfilled or 
unfunded.  That will be a priority for this budget year immediately, before actually the beginning 
of next year.   We will put it in the next year's budget, but we will be looking to fill that position 
immediately. 
  We need to have a five-year financial plan to meet our upcoming operation needs.  
We're projecting increasing operating expenditures over the next five years to address the aging 
bus fleet, to address deferred maintenance, and we still have additional safety and security 
program needs that must be funded, and we need to develop enhanced employee training 
programs and focus on employee retention and recruitment.  We know that we have some 
challenges.  The good news is we are financially stable.  We have the resources to address these 
deferred maintenance items and to enable us to grow our operating budget to meet our current 
needs. 
 Over the next 30 days we're issuing the bus RFP, the bus operations provider RFP.  
We're submitting the budget to the MTC and City Council for consideration.  On April 10th at the 
council business meeting, we will have several RCAs, Request for Council Actions, but one of 
those will be to amend a contract with Siemens to enhance and expedite necessary rail car 
maintenance and to purchase from Siemens a piece of equipment which is called a dolly.  And 
think about a dolly like you would a furniture dolly, a set of wheels that you can use to roll 
things around. 

10



   
Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 7 of 30 

 In rail, a Light Rail dolly is a set of wheels that you place the vehicle on when you need 
to remove the permanent vehicle wheels, and those are referred to as a truck, and the truck is 
in effect the wheel set.  There are three trucks per vehicle, and so when you remove those for 
maintenance you need a set of dollies to place the vehicle on.  We will be asking Council to 
consider the amended contract for the maintenance but also the purchase of six dolly sets, 
which allows us to work with Siemens to expedite the maintenance. 
 I'll pause there and say the maintenance that we're talking about, obviously the 
community has been talking about this, so the maintenance we're talking about is the truck 
overhaul maintenance. 
 The truck overhaul maintenance contract, we entered into the contract about two years 
ago.  There's one year of Siemens to prepare for, to set up their shop in the way that's necessary 
to actually do the truck maintenance for our vehicles.  The first two vehicle trucks went to 
Siemens about 12 months ago, and the first one of those was received back to Charlotte, to 
CATS, about three weeks ago, and the second is on its way back. 
 Now, when the trucks are received, the first one and the second one after it, we will 
have to do acceptance testing.  And I want to point out that the maintenance on these trucks is 
very specialized, and so as when they do acceptance testing it's possible -- the first set of trucks 
has not been accepted yet -- it's possible that other issues will arise as they're doing acceptance 
testing and you have to make additional repairs there on-site, not sending the trucks back to 
California but on-site before they're able to be accepted and put back into the fleet. 
 The first two trucks are out on their way back.  The contract we have was for half of the 
fleet, 20 vehicles.  And because we were going to be sending the trucks one set at a time, the 
projected completion date for half the fleet was July 2025.  That's a long time.  Given the 
situation we are in today, we have been working with NCDOT and with Siemens to expedite 
that. 
 What that means is, now that we have additional dolly sets, we will send more trucks at 
a time to Siemens for them to complete the repairs.  They are working on a new schedule.  
We're buying six sets of dollies.  We have one set.  We will have seven, and we are working with 
a different transit agency, a separate transit agency, to borrow an additional set, and we should 
be able to send eight sets of trucks at one time that we can greatly increase the speed of the 
repairs, and we are extending the contract for the entire fleet.  The original contract, half the 
fleet July 2025 based on the assumption that one truck set at a time would go to Siemens.  The 
amended contract is eight truck sets at a time, entire fleet, and we are awaiting a new schedule, 
but given that we are sending eight times more trucks at a time we expect a greatly expedited 
schedule.  As soon as we have that we will report that out. 
I expect the schedule to be greatly reduced.  In fact, I believe that it will take many months to do 
this work.  It is very detailed work.  All of the work has to be done in California, but we do expect 
a much better schedule as far as speed because we are sending more trucks at a time. 
Let me pause there and say that is where we're at, but all of this is predicated around the notice 
that we received from NCDOT. 
 North Carolina Department of Transportation has oversight responsibility for safety 
matters when it comes to rail and Light Rail.  They are the designated agency by the FTA.  When 
I became aware of this was on February 6th North Carolina Department of Transportation sent 
CATS, sent me, a notice that they were concerned that we had not properly addressed the 
bearings in the trucks.  Each truck has a main axle bearing, and that axle bearing failed on May 
21, 2022, when we had the vehicle derailment that evening.  

After the derailment occurred, we immediately notified NCDOT, as is the regulation, and 
we began working with Siemens to do a root cause analysis to understand exactly what 

11



   
Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 8 of 30 

happened and why.  As the root cause analysis was completed there were many factors, 
contributing factors, that led to the situation. 

A couple of those factors would have been operator and communications center 
actions.  There is some indication that the operator in the communications center, they did not 
know exactly what the issue was with the railcar, but they knew it was not operating quite as 
they would expect normal, but that did not lead them to immediately requesting that the railcar 
be taken out of service. 

It remained in service, and ultimately the final contributing factor, or the other 
contributing factor, was the failure of the main axle bearing.  The axle bearing, it was found the 
seal -- it's a sealed bearing -- water entered, the seal broke, water entered into the bearing and 
that created corrosion.  Corrosion over time led the bearing to heat the axle.  The axle 
overheated and seized, or stopped turning, and therefore the wheel stopped turning, and that is 
on the middle truck set of the vehicle that derailed.   

Now, at the time, the vehicle was in revenue service.  The vehicle came to a stop and 
the 24 passengers were safely unloaded and taken onto their destinations, and one passenger 
called for a medical evaluation but was released on scene with no treatment.  Everyone was 
okay.  So that was the evening; after that, we started working with NCDOT notifying them and 
the FTA and working with Siemens to do the root cause analysis.  As Siemens did the root cause 
analysis, they determined that there was a flaw with the bearing, that the real fix for the bearing 
was to do the truck overhaul.  The way that we resolve the issue with the bearing is to complete 
the truck overhaul as quickly as possible. 

It was also determined that CATS is overdue on the recommended maintenance 
schedule of the truck overhaul.  Trucks should be overhauled at 300,000-mile intervals or five 
years, whichever the first of each, and for CATS we will get to the 300,000 mile interval first 
always.  We have a significant number of vehicles.  Let's just say, most if not all of the vehicles 
are overdue either for their 300,000-mile overhaul or their 600,000 mile overhaul. 
We also determined that, and NCDOT was concerned that they asked us to provide them a 
corrective action plan, which we did.  We went back and forth with NCDOT as we created the 
corrective action plan, but ultimately our corrective action plan was agreed to on March 2nd, 
and all of the things that I've described to you -- expediting the contract and those things -- are 
part of the corrective action plan and feed into the corrective action plan, as well as the speed 
restriction on the Blue Line. 

Under normal operations, the Blue Line on average has an average travel speed of about 
40 to 45 miles an hour.  It has maximum speeds of about 55 miles an hour, but those are very 
short periods along very specific areas of the line.  The speed restriction is 35 miles an hour 
maximum speed across the entire line, so that is the first restriction.  Each of these restrictions 
sort of plays into the other. 

The second restriction is that we will take eight rail vehicles out of service, or blue tag 
them is what we call it.  We will tag eight vehicles out of service, and generally speaking those 
will be the highest mileage vehicles and they are out of service.  Now, that also coincides with 
sending eight vehicle sets of trucks to Siemens at a time, because as we're sending those trucks 
those vehicles come out of service awaiting the trucks to come back. 

The last piece to this is -- and again, it goes together with the others -- while we do not 
need to reduce, right, we could maintain the 20-minute headways plus 15 on peaks, given the 
other parameters we have -- service, increasing service -- we cannot increase service until we 
have the fleet repaired. 

All of this is coming together.  As it's been noted, I became aware of this situation on 2/6 
when the NCDOT provided me the letter, sent the letter, and then leading into 2/17 and the 

12



   
Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 9 of 30 

subsequent letter from DOT, started to understand and realize that we needed, CATS needed, a 
different approach and that he lack or the overdue maintenance is really the fundamental issue 
here that has to be addressed, and CATS, once we get it addressed, we will never find ourselves 
in this situation again.  It must be addressed immediately, and ongoing we cannot find ourselves 
in this situation again. 
 

MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  As I said, these are difficult things to hear when we 
have sat around this table for a long time listening to each other and talking about issues that 
weren't related to this kind of report that Brent just gave to us.  It is going to take us the time 
and the effort to get this done, but we will get it done.  This is a commitment that we have to 
have if we're going to have a system that operates this way.   
I wanted to take a moment and just say that this is the time I think it's a great opportunity for us 
to have further questions, deeper dive into any of this that we choose to, and I'm going to ask 
that everyone be present, so I'd really like to have our advisory group chair and vice chairs 
participate in this discussion because you have long-term experience with us and we want to 
know what's going on.  And so when we talk about this glad to have them, Mr. Tillman and Mr. 
Hurms, around the table with us.  I'm glad to recommend that.  Please join us. 
Then I think that we really want to start an open discussion.  We want the questions, and we 
also would like to have at the end of this conversation an idea of what the scope of efforts that 
we have to make to make this complete for both Management Partners as well as safety and 
maintenance. 

If you are watching is online, all of the documents that have been referenced are on the 
website that you can look at.  You've got a number of reports that are a part of this. 
 

V. Transit Services Advisory Committee (TSAC)’s Comments 
 Jarrett Hurms (Co-Chairman):  Thank you, Madam Mayor, and I would also like to thank 
Interim CEO Brent Cagle for stepping into this role because I know you have a lot to do. 
 I'll kind of start off and kind of tee up for our discussion for a lot of our voting members 
is that many of us on the TSAC committee were very thrown off by this.  I know for me, I will just 
be honest, I was very pissed.  And this is also coming from the heels of we recently had a safety 
presentation which we had talked about a lot of things, including what makes the preventable 
versus unpreventable collision, and a lot of our stats which were very much appreciated.  
However, the one big thing that was missing is the existence of a derailment.  As you can 
probably imagine coming on the heels of that presentation, hearing this news had many of us 
taken aback by this.  There is very much a loss of public trust because of this and there is going 
to be a lot of work.  I do appreciate you presenting the work that's going to have to be done.   
 Over the past year as I have been on TSAC, I have made quite a few comments, either 
comments or questions in regards to the maintenance of our vehicles, both rail and bus, 
because while maintenance -- I've said it many times -- maintenance is not sexy.  Trust me, I 
understand.  But it's imperative and really one of the most important things for the providing of 
an effective transit system, especially one as large as CATS.  Already, that in itself is one of the 
most egregious as far as the loss of trust. 
 Obviously, much of this needs to be done now and have a voice to be able to expedite 
things which I have seen, which is good, but other things that do need to be considered, 
including things such as to be able to better work with safety teams of all of our government 
agencies such as FTA, NCDOT, and things like that, such as I know we are doing the 35 mile an 
hour speed limit.  But based on many of the documents that I've shown that they have 
suggested -- and originally the idea was not received as well -- so better communication, better 

13



   
Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 10 of 30 

adherence to what the safety professionals for government agencies say is very important, and 
as well as there definitely needs to be an overhaul and a real consideration for our rail 
operations center, because during the event that happened in May 2022 there was the evidence 
that the derail operator has expressed concerns and much of it was seen as kind of a, "Well, no, 
you need to look here or just turn it on or off again," which is totally unacceptable. 
 Again, I am not criticizing the actual operator of the vehicle, because what they were 
doing did seem like the right thing but definitely a close look at the operation of your rail 
operations center is extremely vital amongst a number of other things. 
 I will just also state that obviously what is happening on the rail needs to be done, we all 
know this, and also as well as the processing when it comes to avoiding deferred maintenance in 
the future for both our rail and our buses as well.  I was a regular rider of the #9 and #18 bus, I 
will say our fleet is very much aging.  There is a lifespan for the original fleet so there definitely 
needs to be a very aggressive approach from not just now replacing the already old buses but 
also in the future with making sure that this does not happen again, because there are many 
riders or potential riders who are worried about the bus as well.   
 

Krissy Oechslin (TSAC Chairwoman):  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I think the point I'd like 
to raise is, so I've been chair of TSAC since 2020, so I was sitting in this same chair in February 
2020 when a motion was brought I think before MTC to fund the midlife overhauls that are 
being discussed now three years later that still haven't been done.  You can go back and look in 
the minutes.  They're on the MTC website.  
 I know COVID obviously happened in that time, and it's easy to say, like, everything 
went to hell because of COVID, but why have we not talked about that since then?  You know, 
three years later those overhauls weren't done.  It doesn't seem like anyone remembered that 
those didn't get done.  Why wasn't that brought up, like, all the time instead of just "Oh, yeah, 
we have to do that," and there was a derailment that might/maybe could have been prevented 
if those overhauls had been done. 
 I kind of want to reflect on the comment from our public speaker, and also I listened to 
Mayor Lyles on "Charlotte Talks" today.  I know it's important to go forward with things being 
fixed, and looking forward is how we fix things, but I think that to gain trust you have to look 
back and fix the things that happened and have some sort of accountability.  If those overhauls 
were supposed to be done three years ago there needs to be, like:  Why didn't they happen; was 
the money budgeted; if it was and didn't get spent, like, what happened to it?  If it wasn't 
budgeted when was that decision made; why has it been that the midlife overhauls, why haven't 
they been brought up like every month, you know?  It wasn't a secret that they needed to be 
done three years ago.  Why is it three years before we talked about it again? 
 I just think that going forward it's important to fix things, but that also requires looking 
back and making sure people are held accountable for decisions that were made. 
 
Discussion: 
 MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  I wanted to say to you that I agree with you.  We 
have to look back at the process, but a lot of this is what I talked about with culture.  If you don't 
have people that are willing to speak up and people that feel that perhaps they are not in an 
appropriate place to speak up, and I've said the most important thing in an organization is to 
have your truth teller with you.  And I don't think that we had that in CATS, and I don't know 
why.  There's no way that I can go back, and I guess what I should have said -- and I'm not the 
most articulate mayor, but believe me, my heart is in the right place.  My head may not follow 
me, but what I'm trying to say is that if you have employees that don't feel comfortable, we can 

14



   
Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 11 of 30 

probably go back, but it's going to be how do we make sure that they feel comfortable enough 
to say, "I want to step up and say this is some way to improve this, this is why I didn't do or 
didn't say what I wanted to say," and incorporate that in the respect for the people that we have 
that work for us. 
 I agree with you, and I don't believe it is about money.  Money doesn't cause this level 
of concern.  Even if it did, that would have been a part of what I would say the culture is, and 
now I'm going to stop and let them Mr. Cagle give you the real answers of this. 
 

INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  I guess what I would say is I will agree with the mayor.  I 
think you did a good job.  This is not a money issue.  CATS has financial reserves.  We still have, 
quote/unquote, COVID funds of the different sorts.  These repairs are expensive capital 
maintenance and they are expensive, but this is not a money issue, this is a culture issue. 
What I will say is I agree with you accountability is absolutely key.  What I have to determine and 
what I am determining now is where do I need to hold the people accountable versus where are 
the people who were afraid to speak up.  And I need the folks who were afraid to speak up to 
understand we need that.  We need people, I need people.  No one in CATS should ever worry 
about coming to my office and letting me know there's an issue. 
I said that in the town halls.  I'll doing new town halls to reiterate that because one set of town 
halls isn't enough.  But I've seen that, right?  We're going to get better, but I have already seen 
employees who call me.  I give employees my cell phone number, because if they have an issue I 
need to know about it or come to the office or I go to them in the town halls.  Culture doesn't 
change overnight, but it will change quickly because a culture of silence, there are a lot of 
people who have been waiting for this, waiting for doing this. 
I have to decide, and I am working through this, where are the folks that I need to hold 
accountable and where are the folks that I need to be listening to as they start to emerge and 
want to help CATS be great.  Both are appropriate and I will be looking at both. 
 

MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  I think that, as I said, this is something that we're 
committed to, this organization.  Every member of this group understands this.  We sent out all 
of this packet of information.  You should have it and have it available to you to talk about these 
things and being available in a way that's substantive and not just a report, and that's one of our 
commitments. 
 

INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  One thing I would like to clarify just as we go through this, 
and I think there has been confusion, and believe me, this is complicated and so I think it's 
understandable.  You mentioned what we refer to as the midlife overhaul, and so I do want to 
be clear.  For rail vehicles, transit agencies frequently do what's called a midlife overhaul, and it 
is exactly what it sounds like.  At the middle of the life, 15 years in, they send the car, the entire 
car, back to the manufacturer and they rebuild it from the ground up, and that includes 
mechanical maintenance.  It also includes a passenger conveniences, new seats, new audio-
video systems, Wi-Fi on board, all of those things that weren't available 15 years ago that the 
transit agency wants to include now, and so it's a full rebuild, it's a midlife overhaul. 
If you went to Siemens, it says show me the big book of manufacturer recommended 
maintenance, show me midlife overhaul.  It doesn't exist.  That's a transit agency term for a 
complete refresh or rebuild of the rail vehicle.  Now, components that are included in midlife 
overhauls, they absolutely could show you the OEM manufacturer-recommended maintenance.  
Truck maintenance, truck overhaul, is a manufacturer recommended maintenance that should 
be completed at 300,000 miles, every 300,000 miles as I mentioned.  

15



   
Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 12 of 30 

I hope that helps us not confuse.  We need to do the midlife overhaul.  It has been 
planned for for several years.  It has not been started.  Right now, it's estimated at $40-50M but 
we need to put that out for proposals, and that is important, $40-50M for half of the fleet.  Our 
fleet consists of kind of two eras of cars, the original cars and then the cars that were bought 
with the Blue Line extension.  We have 42 vehicles, Light Rail vehicles.  Twenty of them are 
original and need a midlife overhaul, 22 are from the Blue Line extension and they're not quite 
to midlife overhaul.  But by the time we get done with the first set of vehicles they will need 
midlife overhaul. 

What we're talking about specifically with the bearing issue is about the truck overhauls, 
and so while we know we need to do the midlife overhaul, right now, frankly, we are prioritizing 
the truck overhaul to fix the division bearing.  I did not mention before, but I will now, the 
estimated cost for the fleet for truck overhaul is approximately $30M, and again, that action will 
be going to Council on April 10th, but that $30M all in for the fleet is completely separate and 
apart from the midlife overhaul. 
 

MS. OECHSLIN:  But would the midlife overhaul have rebuilt the trucks? 
 

INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  It would; it would have.  Two years ago, when we said we 
would start, when CATS said they would start the midlife overhaul, it's sort of a – I don't know 
how to explain it.  Even back then we needed to do the truck overhaul, and I don't know if the 
thinking was because the truck overhaul is included in the midlife overhaul.  I can't say what that 
thinking was, but they are separate things.  A midlife overhaul would include a truck overhaul, 
but it takes much more time.  The first vehicle, when we send the first vehicle out for midlife 
overhaul it could take 18 to 24 months for just one vehicle because it's so extensive. 
 

MS. OECHSLIN:  Right, but I mean the end result, though, is that if the midlife overhauls 
had be done in a timely manner it would have gotten the truck overhauls and it would have 
ultimately taken less money and time instead of doing them separately? 
 

INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  No, I don't think that's correct.  The truck overhauls need to 
be done regardless of the midlife overhaul, and we should have been doing those and planning 
for the midlife overhaul so that they were coordinated together, not that we find ourselves 
where we have to put all efforts to the truck, but they would be separate and independent.  You 
would need to do them regardless because the truck overhaul is routine every three years.  Each 
rail car at CATS travels about 100,000 miles a year normal schedules, normal routines.  Every 
three years we're doing truck overhauls.  Doing a midlife would not have prevented us from 
doing a truck overhaul.  We would still need to be doing that, we just should have planned 
better to coordinate those and do them in conjunction. 

 
MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  And implemented it as well instead of just planning.  

There should have been implementation. 
 

VI. Citizens Transit Advisory Group (CTAG) Chairman’s Comments 
 Edward Tillman (Co-Chairman – City of Charlotte):  Thank you very much, Madam Chair 
and MTC members.  The first thing I'd like to say is I believe to some degree what we are now 
being made aware of in some ways stems from somewhat of an adversarial relationship that 
previous leadership had with the, I'll say, public in some respects as well as the media and trying 
to avoid additional negative press or attention.  I've certainly in many meetings heard and felt a 

16



   
Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 13 of 30 

very specific tone in how things were being portrayed at CATS and trying to downplay those 
things, and I certainly feel that may have played a significant role in how we got here. 
 But moving forward, because we cannot change what's already occurred, the trust that 
the community has with CATS was low already and this is not helping at all, and it's going to cost 
us more than what we have already spent and what we are going to have to spend to change 
our credibility.  And potentially there's got to be an adjustment to that and in some ways going 
further than we expect to go and being a trustful and verified system.  And I'm not too big on 
creating checkboxes or creating new processes, but potentially a checks and balances system is 
necessary so that one individual, two individuals, whatever the case may be, don't have the 
ability to downplay or, say, hide or mislead what the truth is about what is going on. 
 Similar to what we have and most communities have regarding police actions involving 
shootings or things that seem out of the norm, there may be need to consider something to the 
same effect when there is an action that involves some sort of incident regarding bus riders, bus 
drivers, the rail riders and drivers, so that anything that has to be reported to the NCDOT also 
gets sent to outside entities so that they are made aware and we are not coming behind our 
own leadership who should be sharing this so that we can get better at making sure someone 
else sees this, and we are all working in the light of day instead of hiding it until some other time 
where we can move beyond it or change the narrative in some manner.   
 It is very disturbing where we are, but we can move forward, but there will need to be 
some re-creation of trust within the community to say we are opening the doors to all of this.  
Mr. Cagle talked about the budget, the internal partners, we need to do the same when it 
comes to all aspects that are truly public information and necessary for the public to be made 
aware of because otherwise, we're creating a system, a regional system, that one of the biggest 
populaces will refuse to consistently go to.  It will continue to be the choice of last resort or the 
choice of the poor instead of the choice of everyone looking to be agreeable to be efficient, to 
be more of a community. 
 Those are my thoughts as we sit here and sort of play armchair quarterback and see 
what has occurred over the last 10 to 12 months. 
 

VII. Public Comments  
 1) MARK MOORE:  Thank you all for being here again tonight.  Thank you, Mayor Lyles; 
thank you, Mr. Cagle, for being here.  We've talked a lot about trust tonight, which is very on 
topic with what I was coming to talk about.  Now, I do want to start off just by saying, Mr. Cagle 
and everyone else who has started with CATS fairly recently, I do appreciate the work that 
you've done.  Obviously, you've done a lot of work to build trust with drivers recently and to be 
here and actually be present and have these conversations, and I do appreciate that. 
 The Light Rail concept you just mentioned aside, we were talking a lot about the cuts 
that happened back in August that were essentially presented originally as temporary cuts that 
were only cuts to provide reliability over the process of hiring more drivers.  Now, I also 
attended the recent TSAC meeting where it became somewhat clear that a lot of the initial 
hiring numbers that are given to RATP Dev were hiring for the current reduced service and that 
there was no current plan on how to restore the service that was cut in August that was 
originally presented as to be temporary. 
 Now, I understand there's a lot of factors that go into this.  I'm not trying to -- but this 
affects trust.  We're talking about ridership trust and whether people feel like they can trust 
CATS to do what they need to do to be able to come back and get the ridership and things like 
that.  But especially it affects trust because we are currently at a time where we are effectively 
depending on, one, the State to trust us to put the tax on.  I'd like to be able to do plans like 

17



   
Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 14 of 30 

Envision My Ride or the Silver Line or anything that will be happening going forward, and where 
people have to vote for that tax.  Effectively you are asking the public to have this vote where 
they pretty much would have to approve it in order for any of these plans to go into place.  I 
think we have to kind of recognize that it is hard to expect people to trust CATS to successfully 
pull that off, when we cannot pull off what we were doing before that is far below what would 
be projected with any of the plans we're trying to do. 
 It's sort of the analogy I think of like a parent talking to their kid, like a kid saying, "Mom, 
can I get a new dog, like, I promise I will take really good care of it?  Here's the plan of 
everything I'm going to do to take care of it," and you look at the kid and you see the cat next to 
him that's dead and you're like, "You're going to have to do some more work for me to trust you 
with a dog."  And I think to an extent, even though I know the work is being done, I think that's 
sort of where we're at right now.  And I think the big place to start rebuilding that trust would be 
to at least kind of have a clear plan, like this is what we are working on to achieve, at the very 
least just like the original frequencies on all major lines.  Like, I know it's not going to happen 
overnight, but it's also the type of thing that's never going to happen if it's just – there has to be 
a plan, and I think that's what I personally as a rider, a daily rider, would like to see more of.  
Thank you. 
 
Discussion: 
 MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  Thank you very much, Mr. Moore.  I greatly 
appreciate your voice and your message to us.  We're going to continue to work at it, and plans 
are great, but action is a lot better.  I think you're going to continue to see this effort where 
we're talking about maintenance and safety to get to a place that we can do something a little 
bit more realistic for what the riders expect and experience.  Thank you. 
 

VIII.       Informational Items  
A. Ridership Update – No presentation given. Informational memo was available for the MTC 

to review. 
 

B. Battery Electric Bus (BEB) Mid-Pilot Program Update – No presentation given. Information 
memo was available for the MTC to review. 

 
C. Security Contract and Programs – No presentation given. Information memo was available 

for the MTC to review 
 

D. Preliminary Budget Update            Chad Howell 
Thurman (Chad) Howell – Interim CATS Chief Finance Officer – shared a presentation with 
Preliminary Budge updates; based on pages 41-57 in the MTC Agenda Packet for March 22nd, 
2023 meeting. 
 
Discussion: 

MAYOR KNOX (Town of Davidson):  I've just got one quick question.  The $27M for 
buses and the $10M for projects and equipment purchases, is that in excess of our $130M 
reserves?  I notice it comes from reserve but is that in excess to or part of? 
 
 INTERIM CATS CFO HOWELL:  Yes, sir, it is.  It is in excess of the $130M requirement 
across our two separate funds. 
 

18



   
Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 15 of 30 

INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  One thing I will say, yes, it is in excess of the $130M.  We 
will never go below that but we also still, as I mentioned before, have some COVID cash so to 
speak. 
 

MR. HURMS:  So just a question, and so one is going back to the question of amenities.  
What was the dollar figures you said per year for that one? 
 

INTERIM CATS CFO HOWELL:  Yes, sir, prior to tonight, so '23 back, we budgeted 
according to our books -- about $1.4M has been budgeted in prior year-to-date, so that's a 
budget number.  And then going forward each year would be an additional half a million dollars 
annually added to that.  Of course, we'll be spending it down as we go. 
 

MR. HURMS:  I will say that is very good news because as we've heard from our last 
MTC meeting we have a number of areas, both within Charlotte as well as areas of Cornelius 
and other areas where they have created certain infrastructure to be able to have certain 
amenities and shelters and everything that just haven't been built, so I think that is a good thing 
that that additional money is put in there.  I think the next step is making sure that those are 
actually implemented.  That's good.  

My next question is in regards to the hiring and personnel portion.  So obviously, as far 
as our current hiring as far as from a bus operator perspective, a lot that hiring is for the current 
ridership levels, but I would like to know as far as dollar figures, as far as potential hiring, as far 
as our pre-August 2022 levels of service, because part of being able to help bring some of that 
service back, even if it is a bit of a faucet, trickling faucet, method is being able to be aggressive 
within those hiring practices and making sure that we're hiring not just for the levels that we 
presently have but also for the levels that we used to have, as well as potential hiring for 
potential growth or within certain particular key lines or lines that may kind of cover very long 
stretches of the area. 
 

INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  Couple things.  I think you did a great job explaining it, 
Chad, but I'm going to add something in here and then probably come back to more of this 
sentiment.  The slide that showed the breakdown between personal services and other O&M.  
This is a little bit of an optical illusion.  The numbers are correct, but there's two different 
philosophies about how to budget for personnel.  One would be to budget every full-time 
equivalent position available at 100%, and the other is to budget for what you believe your 
staffing is going to be over the year.  Every organization has vacancies.  We call it sort of salary 
savings, right?  When you budget as if you were 100% occupied or filled, you end up putting 
more money into personal services that you will not spend because literally there is no one 
there to pay. 

It's a philosophy that's not wrong or right, but as we looked at it, we were shortchanging 
ourselves on O&M by overstating personnel, personal services.  We changed that.  You can see, 
the total budget grows.  It looks like all of a sudden personal services is going down, like are we 
cutting positions.  We are not.  We are not at all.  What we are doing is recognizing the salary 
savings that we have. 
 Now, to the position question, and let me answer it, when we talk about bus operators 
you do not see bus operators in personal services because they are contracted with RATP Dev.  
They said they are employees but not City of Charlotte employees.  They're contractors or 
they're contracted.  They do carry vacancies right now.  It is a high amount of vacancies.  We are 
having conversations with them on how we can stem the tide, how we can start to turn the tide, 

19



   
Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 16 of 30 

but I will say, one of the first things we need to do is stop the losses, right, stop losing people.  
We are very focused on retention and then we're turning our focus to recruitment, but today we 
need to retain every employee, whether it's bus operators, rail operators, everyone.  We need 
to stop losing employees.  We're really hitting hard retention.  Then we will start to roll out the 
strategies on recruitment, but I am very worried about it. 
 Today when we talk about service levels, when we're able to provide service there's 
kind of two key ingredients there: staff and equipment.  When it comes to bus, we have the staff 
to provide the service we are providing today.  Anything beyond that and we will start to suffer 
on reliability.  We do not have the personnel to start to move up from the schedule we have 
today, but we are showing that we can provide the schedule we have today reliably. 
 On Light Rail same end result, but equipment is the issue.  We are committed to 
reliable, safe service but the service we provide today is really where we need to be so we can 
continue being reliable into the future, but as those things change we certainly will discuss more 
with the MTC, both demand, ridership demand, and how we see that recovering and changing, 
and then what our strategies can be as we start to be in a better position to address this. 
 
 MR. HURMS:  Thank you, Mr. Cagle.  That does clear up some to a certain degree 
because I would say some of those came from our last TSAC meeting.  From the perspective of 
safety and reliability, I would say these changes would be important for now, but also thinking 
of the future I would say it's important if we were to add the service and everything there, if we 
were to add frequency, that would create a potential problem.  Obviously, there is no debate 
there because safety is first. 
 From a bus operator's perspective obviously yes, retention is important, and I would 
definitely strongly encourage that you continue with ensuring that you are able to keep the 
people we currently have and be able to really have a very hard evaluation on retention efforts, 
making sure of that, and being able to really strategize on what is going right, what's not going 
right; what is kind of creating some of the potential issues and then be able to kind of really take 
those as lessons for the future. 
 I was more saying that to just making sure that understanding that there are many 
public riders who do wish some of that to come back, but I would say we do recognize that 
retention is very important so I would definitely strongly encourage to keep going with that but 
also being very hard on retention and making sure of that and then having continued 
conversation on the eventual hiring of it. 
 

MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  I do want to say that I just got a book called "Next," 
and it's like next what's going to happen in workforce.  It's written by a professor at Yale.  I 
would recommend it because I think this is going to get harder and harder and harder over the 
next several years to actually be at a place where people are definitely changing, and this book 
has actually done a lot of data management around that and where people are and what they're 
doing. 

Then the second thing that I say about the budget, I'm really glad that we're doing this 
at this level of information, and what I think for me, as we're going through this process of 
change and openness in crisis, I really think that one of the things that has resonated with me is 
the connection between our budget and our policymaking.  City Council does budget, MTC does 
policymaking.  That can't be.  If you're going to implement the policies you have to have 
financing to back them up, and I really would hope that as we're going through this list, kind of 
think through that and see how we either decide to keep it or what are the opportunities for 
improvements in that communication. 

20



   
Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 17 of 30 

I think that that's something that I am very concerned about, because as we're 
establishing these metrics of that how we're going to do equipment changes and people, a lot of 
that comes under budget.  But if you have a policy to grow your system and to get back where 
we want it to be, then that is a decision that doesn't always translate into a budget cost or 
something like that. 
 Then I think the other thing that I think is really important is to watch our debt service, 
because you want to have the right amount of reserves but you don't want to have too much.  I 
think you guys have done a great job allocating funding to the needs that we have to make this 
work better.  I want to say good job on the budget and let's just keep working to build out the 
right system that we can have. 
 
 MAYOR BALES (Town of Huntersville):  One of the things that you and I have had 
conversations around when we're talking budget and policy is the potential opportunity to have 
some joint meetings to make sure that we are on the same page.  That would be one of my 
recommendations. 
 
 MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  I would agree.  And I think we might have to figure 
that out as a committee meeting maybe, but you know how that goes, but we'll just keep 
working at it. 
 
 COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  This is a really interesting point you 
just made, and I will call upon our attorney again because I was trying to get this down to a 
single sentence to explain to residents, and I was asking our attorney earlier this week to drill 
down the exact difference between the jurisdiction between the MTC and City Council.  What I 
understood our conversation to leave me with is that basically the two boards have concurrent 
authority over policy, it's just that City Council has the additional authority to enter into 
contracts for CATS and to buy land, which the MTC does not have those two rights. 
 Can you clarify for me, because I thought we did have concurrent policy jurisdiction, is 
there ever a time when we vote on a policy that the City Council wouldn't, or vice versa, just for 
my edification. 
 
 CATS LEGAL COUNSEL BRAD THOMAS:  I think there is a lot of overlap.  For instance, 
when CATS brings transit plans to the MTC, such as the Silver Line or other long-term transit 
plans, those things are voted on by MTC and they're also voted on the part of a City plan as well, 
so definitely there is overlap in a lot of those areas. 
 
 COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  Has there ever been a time that one 
voted for something and the other didn't, to your knowledge? 
 
 CATS LEGAL COUNSEL BRAD THOMAS: Not to my knowledge. 
 
 COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  It's been sort of a concurrent thing 
with both policies, with both boards? 
 
 CATS LEGAL COUNSEL BRAD THOMAS:  Yes.  
 

MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  From my experience it has been a negotiation.  It 
hasn't been that we agree, it's just that we negotiate where we want to get to be.  That may not 

21



   
Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 18 of 30 

be a bad thing, but if we're going to talk about speed and change let's get some idea of what 
we're doing and how long it takes, and just pay attention to it and see if there are any 
opportunities.  Maybe a joint meeting is the opportunity to say this is the way we want to do it, 
or there may be some smaller things that we do, like well, why do we have to put that on the 
consent agenda for something that the City has to approve.  I think that when I look at it, it's 
really one of those opportunities to have this board actually engaged in finance and connecting 
these things together.  

 
IX. Action Item (Added by MTC on March 22nd, 2023) 

Train Derailment Operations Investigation    Commissioner Leigh Altman 
 
Discussion: 

COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  I'd like to begin by recognizing that 
Mr. Cagle was trying to explain events and actions which almost entirely predate him, and I 
recognize the difficult position that puts you in and I appreciate your willingness to step in, truly.  
I have some comments to make.  I have questions peppered throughout, if I may burden you to 
keep a running tally of my questions and at the end if you could respond.  Thank you. 

In the last day I've heard a couple of issues raised that I would like to address.  One, the 
need for a transit authority and a big presentation tonight about Management Partners and 
their comments regarding our government structure.  The need for a transit authority is a great 
conversation to have.  In fact, I'll be meeting with area mayors about this on Friday.  But the 
need for a transit authority has nothing to do with CATS' failure to perform the required 
maintenance on these trains and the fact that no one sounded an alarm.  The need for a transit 
authority has nothing to do with CATS' failure to disclose the derailment.  The need for a transit 
authority does not help us address how we will ensure these trains are safe and how we will 
hold accountable those who fail to do their job. 

I've also heard it raised the governing structure of CATS is in some shape or form an 
apparent explanation for how these failures occurred, but there is no ambiguity that CATS is a 
public enterprise of the City of Charlotte.  There is no ambiguity that CATS' CEO directly reports 
to the city manager or his ACM.  It cannot be said that anyone at CATS was unclear who they 
should report to and that this is the reason that all of these lapses occurred. 

Last, whatever problems of the governance structure -- and they do exist -- getting it 
changed will be a heavy lift requiring the General Assembly approval, and we cannot afford to 
wait around for that.  I hope we don't confuse those issues in these discussions.  The need of a 
transit authority in addressing the governance structure are very important, but they are at best 
distantly related to our topic tonight.   

I say this as someone who was the former lead attorney for the State of Georgia's 
Consumer Protective Agency for five years.  I am very uncomfortable that prior to tonight, and it 
was here at my table, the only notice that I had about NCDOT's letters to CATS was because a 
reporter put them in my hand.  I otherwise would have had no information that all of this 
occurred because CATS failed to adhere to a maintenance schedule for the trains and that this 
was the cause of the derailment. 

It is very hard to start rebuilding trust when, as I sit here today, I would only have known 
about that extent of the problem before today because a reporter gave me the document.  That 
is just unacceptable.  Ongoing safety issues and failing to maintain trains, please understand -- 
I'm sorry, when I wrote this, I didn't have the document.  It was here at the dais when I sat here 
tonight so there.  The fact that we can only have this conversation because someone outside of 
government provided proof is not acceptable.   

22



   
Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 19 of 30 

On the questions of remediation, Mr. Cagle, the derailment happened in May.  What 
steps did CATS take in June and July and August and September and October and November and 
December and January to remediate this problem?  I was unclear from your comments, you said 
that two trucks have already been sent out for remediation, but I don't know that its repairs 
were made as a result of the derailment.  When I'm done, I hope you'll address that. 

I have heard it said on the radio today that remediation has been initiated, but I hope 
that's not the heat strips, which are merely diagnostic tools.  They are not remediation, so I 
would like clarity around that. 

On the most important issue of whether the trains are safe, yesterday it was stated by 
the Interim CEO in a memo to all of us that we have a corrective action plan in place to address 
the maintenance issues associated with the Light Rail vehicles, we continue to operate a safe 
and reliable transit system, and CATS believes the Blue Line is operating safely.  However, I've 
got a May 2nd memo from NCDOT saying CATS is currently operating Light Rail vehicles which 
have surpassed the manufacturer recommended axle overhaul thresholds.  It says CATS has not 
conducted any form of risk assessment or hazard analysis to quantify the risks or to identify 
additional risks that the condition of the deferred maintenance may be causing, nor has CATS 
examined or presented information on potential other contributing factors and/or mitigations 
that may exacerbate or reduce hazard risk.  

As I sit here today, not having any sort of technical expertise myself, I have a very hard 
time reconciling what NCDOT said earlier this month and what I am reading as of yesterday.  I 
would like to help restore clarity for me and credibility and trust for Timothy Abbott, who is 
DOT's safety enforcement and oversight manager, to come to the MTC or at least write to the 
MTC and explain why the trains are safe notwithstanding these aspects that I just read to you 
from his March 2nd letter. 

In addition, we now have today I think the first time I've ever seen this here at my table 
a memo to the Interim CEO from DOT dated March 21st stating that CATS has failed to conduct 
bridge structure inspections, which I presume are bridges where CATS travels over, and there 
are numerous apparent citations related to a failure to inspect bridges, which I think is news to 
everybody in the room.  

Of course, you've heard the CEO reference that 30% of the bus fleet is operating over its 
12-year useful life.  I am glad to hear the Mayor of Charlotte and the Interim CEO support -- I 
heard it on the radio today from the Mayor and it's contained in the CEO's memo from 
yesterday -- support to select a third-party transit consultant to perform an operational 
investigation.  I hope that's not Management Partners.  That's not what I'm seeking.  I'm seeking 
a true fresh pair of eyes, a true third-party person who is a stranger to all these people and 
these events and who will bring total independence. 

I heard someone today lament they approved of my calling for this, but they lamented 
why do we need to hire another consultant to investigate.  I'll tell you.  I have made some 
assertions in the last few days and tonight based upon the records and documents that I have, 
but I have incomplete information.  CATS and its leadership have made assertions in response 
about safety and what has happened to get us here, but at this point we don't know anything 
for a fact.  I am seeking an outside entity to interview the CATS technicians who were involved, 
to interview CATS executive staff who had roles in this, to interview people in the city manager's 
office who oversaw CATS.  NCDOT can no doubt shed light, as can manufacturer Siemens, as to 
what was said and when.  We need someone to pull the records and the emails and the 
documents to substantiate what has actually occurred.  We need an entity that is familiar with 
the transit regulatory framework and best practices for transit organizations to give us context 
for any actual conclusions upon which we can all finally rely. 

23



Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 20 of 30 

I now at this time make that motion.  Well, I'll wait to make the motion until we can 
hear from the remainder of the board, but I would like to reserve some time to do that and 
thank you. 

INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  Okay, let me start from the end.  Yes, we had not gotten 
into the discussion of other things that we found.  In an environment where we are encouraging 
employees, recommending to employees, asking employees to come forward and break the 
culture of silence, we should expect that there will be other things found. 

One of the things that was brought forward by an employee in light of all of this was 
that CATS had failed in 2021 to conduct bridge inspections.  That is an inspection requirement, 
it's a federal requirement, to inspect bridges once every two years.  An employee brought that 
forward.  We immediately looked into it to understand it.  We have immediately secured a 
contractor to conduct the maintenance in 2023.  We have a schedule -- not the maintenance, 
the inspection.  We have a schedule.  STD is the contractor there, an on-call contractor to the 
City, and they are qualified to do this work and they are immediately starting.  They actually 
started yesterday. 

The first crew started yesterday.  They will add two additional crews on Monday 
morning, and they will complete the bridge inspections, the initial inspections, in the next 2-and-
a-half to 3 months, and then they will work with us to finalize the reports, but while they are 
going they will be reporting to us anything that they find so that we can immediately start to 
address those things as they're going and not wait for a final report. 

The reason you have a letter is we self-reported to FTA and NCDOT upon discovery, and 
we worked with them to inform them of what our actions would be.  Yes, I had not gone in 
there.  That is why that letter is in your packet, all of your packets tonight, and it was certainly 
something to talk about. 

I will tell you; we believe that our parking garages are out of date for their inspections as 
well.  We have already contacted a consultant, W.S.D., to immediately conduct parking garage 
inspections.  There will be other things that we will find that we need to correct.  I think that 
that is going to be true.  We will bring those forward to you as we know what they are and as we 
know what our course of action is and as we work with NCDOT if necessary, on these items. 

COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  I'm sorry, how many bridges? 

INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  Well, we will call them bridges.  It's 37 elevated structures, 
which is a bridge or an elevated platform or other elevated structures, and 6 parking decks. 

COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  And how quickly will it take CATS to 
establish whether our residents are in jeopardy to cross over these places? 

INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  During the last inspection all bridges, all elevated structures 
were deemed good and fair condition.  There was one urgent need identified with a retaining 
wall, and that was fixed on-site as the inspector was conducting the inspection. 

COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  I apologize, I'm confused.  You said 
there were 37 plus the parking decks.  You're telling me all of them have now been inspected? 

INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  No, during the last inspection – 

24



   
Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 21 of 30 

COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  When was that? 
 
INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  It was 2019.  All of the bridges/elevated structures were 

deemed fair and good condition with the exception of one retaining wall, which was fixed on-
site because it was identified as urgent or necessary for the repairs. 

 
COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  And when should they have been 

inspected? 
 
INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  In 2021. 
 
COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  Okay.  We're two years passed for 

that 37 – 
 
INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  Correct, we have missed one cycle.  It is 2023 and we did 

not inspect them in 2021, which is when they should have been inspected.  The March 2nd 
memo was sent back as a confirmation that NCDOT had agreed that our corrective action plans 
were adequate.  That was on March 2nd. 

 
COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  I don't have the technical expertise 

that you do, but I read from the March 2nd letter.  We all heard what I said, and none of that 
sounds like – I mean, should I go back and read the highlighted portions again? 

 
INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  On March 2nd NCDOT accepted our corrective action plans.  

Those corrective action plans do not fix the issue with the bearing.  At least sending them to 
Siemens can do that, but they do put into place mitigating measures.  The other thing I will say 
to the question of is the system safe, as we have worked through this with the FTA and NCDOT, 
at no time have they suggested that we needed to suspend service on the system. 

If we believed we were not operating safely we would not operate, but we know that 
this issue needs to be corrected as fast as possible, and while it exists, we need to have 
mitigating measures, and one of the mitigating measures that was recommended by Siemens 
and accepted by NCDOT are the heat strips.  The failure of the bearing is not something that 
happens quickly.  A bearing doesn't go from completely okay to perfectly functional to 
catastrophic failure or unfunctional quickly.  It takes time.  The seal breaks, water enters, 
corrosion starts, heat builds. 

As we worked with NCDOT and Siemens, right after the accident, after the derailment, 
on the 21st, we notified NCDOT and CATS began a root cause analysis with Siemens.  One of the 
things that they recommended were the heat strips.  The heat tabs, quite frankly what they are 
strips that are applied to the axles of the vehicle, and they register temperature in 10 degree 
increments.  What Siemens said is anything below 150 degrees should be indicative that you are 
not at risk of catastrophic failure.  But if you get a register above 150 degrees you need to 
inspect that vehicle to determine if the bearing is starting to fail because, in an abundance of 
caution, we set our inspection protocols to be 130 degrees or above.   

When we do a visual inspection of the heat strips, if they have registered 130 degrees or 
greater, that vehicle is immediately removed from service and further evaluations of the axle 
and the bearing are completed, as well as each week every vehicle that is in service, the heat 
strips will be inspected at least once per week, and all vehicles that are removed from service 
and then placed back into service will always have a visual inspection of the heat tabs before 

25



   
Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 22 of 30 

returning to service.  And again, if the heat tabs register at 130 degrees or greater, they will not 
be returned to service until further testing is done to determine that the bearing is working 
properly or until the truck assembly is sent to California to Siemens for repair or overhaul. 

 
COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  Well, on that score what I would say 

to you is, perhaps I'm the only one in the room, but I won't feel comfortable that these trains 
are safe until I hear it from DOT based upon very strong language that I see in this March 2nd 
letter.  That may just be me, but if you will, please continue, particularly with the chronology 
from remediation efforts from the time of the derailment to January. 

 
INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  Again, the derailment on the 21st occurred.  Immediate 

notification to DOT, FTA, root cause analysis began, heat strips applied, inspections began, 
brings us to the root cause analysis being conducted and starting to wrap up, starting to be 
complete.  It was completed in December I believe, but I will get a final; I will need to confirm 
that.  At the time, the root cause analysis identified the maintenance, but the bearing is the 
issue, everything we've talked about with the bearing and the seal allowing water to enter the 
bearing, and it identified the midlife overhaul as a way to fix that. 

 
COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  If I'm understanding you, sir, CATS 

took from May when the derailment happened until December to diagnose the problem and no 
remediation happened in that period, is that correct?   

 
INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  Separate from the root cause analysis two vehicle trucks 

were already sent to Siemens for truck overhaul. 
 
COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  And were those sent because of the 

derailment? 
 
INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  They were sent because of the need to do the maintenance, 

and so no, they were sent before. 
 
COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  Okay.  Two trucks were there but 

not because of the derailment and no trucks were – what I'm hearing is that no remediation – 
 
INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  No trucks could have been sent. 
 
COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  -- because of what caused this 

derailment happened from May to January or December, is that right? 
 
INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  There was additional training for the operators and the 

control room to better understand the warning signs of this situation, because as you 
mentioned or someone mentioned, that was not properly identified that day.  The heat strips 
were applied working with Siemens to understand that that was a mitigating measure, and a 
root cause analysis was conducted, and I believe that the root cause analysis was completed in 
December.  As we worked with NCDOT it became clear that we needed to work with them to 
have additional mitigating measures. 

You are correct in the first corrective action plan that we submitted after their 2/6 
letter.  Their 2/6 letter did not specify a specific speed restriction.  It said you should consider a 

26



   
Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 23 of 30 

speed restriction.  Our first corrective action plan did not include a speed restriction.  On 2/17 
they came back and were specific that we needed to consider a 35 mile an hour speed 
restriction.  Now, there were some other things that they asked us to do, like, to determine if by 
utilizing the speed restriction would that create other safety issues.  We were aware of no other 
safety issues that could be created by reducing speed.  We immediately did that on 2/18.  We 
implemented on 2/17 and we had it, for lack of a better term, hardwired into our system on 
2/18. 

 
COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  I think my confusion was arising by 

your use of the term mitigating measures, and now I think I understand.  There’re two kinds of 
mitigating measures, those that reduce risk like the heat strips which say hey, this thing is about 
to get too hot, and those things which actually remedy the problem, meaning fix the defect.  
What I'm hearing from you is that CATS took mitigating measures in the form of risk reduction 
with the heat strips in this period of time, but it didn't begin actually remediating the defect.  It 
hasn't actually begun remediating the defect because you haven't sent any of these trains yet to 
California, is that right? 

 
INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  No, that is not correct.  Two truck sets were sent.  One has 

been received back and the other will be received back we believe next week.  It's on route 
back. 

 
COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  But were those sent because of the 

derailment? 
 
INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  No, but they were overhauled, which removes the faulty 

bearing from the truck.  There are two truck sets -- neither have been received or accepted yet; 
one has been received but not accepted, the other has not been received -- that have had the 
faulty bearing removed and replaced. 

The other truck sets can't be sent at this time or over the last eight months because 
CATS did not have the dollies to remove the truck sets.  Now, I don't disagree with you that 
that's an issue, but that is an issue that we are immediately resolving by buying six additional 
sets of dollies and requesting a loaner set from a different transit agency. 

I understand what you're saying.  We have sent two truck sets to California, to 
Sacramento to Siemens, and they are being received back.  We could not send any additional 
sets to California because we didn't have the dollies.  Now, should someone has asked the 
question then?  All I can tell you is I definitely asked the question after learning of it, and we are 
moving immediately to buy additional dollies so that we can expedite it.  But you are correct, 
mitigating measures are intended to reduce risk as we operate. 

Again, as we have worked with NCDOT there has been no recommendation or 
suggestion to suspend operation, but we do need a corrective action plan to reduce risk, 
continue to operate, and we need to expedite, which we are doing, the repair of the vehicles. 

 
COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  Thank you. 
 
MAYOR BALES (Town of Huntersville):  I have a couple of questions.  At what point did 

CATS notify NCDOT of the derailment?   
 

27



   
Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 24 of 30 

INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  They followed the regulations.  I believe the regulations are 
within two hours.  I will give you a final answer.  They notified them in the specified period.  I 
think there is a requirement to verbally notify them within two hours and then there are other 
requirements in writing and such, but I can get you that information, but we followed the 
regulations. 

 
MAYOR BALES (Town of Huntersville):  One of the things that struck me is the 

derailment happened on May 21st and our MTC meeting was May 25th, within a few days, and 
nothing previous.  That's shocking to me.  One of the questions that I have in regards to the 
Light Rail car itself, has it been pulled, were the bearings replaced, or is it still in operation I 
guess is my question. 

 
INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  That particular Light Rail car? 
 
MAYOR BALES (Town of Huntersville):  Yes. 
 
INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  I will need to double-check.  I don't believe so, but if it were 

back in service -- so because it had a catastrophic failure of the bearing the only way to put that 
truck into service again would be a full truck overhaul.  I do not believe that that was one of the 
ones sent to California because of the timing, but I will double-check the status of that truck. 

The other thing to note, and I know this gets really confusing, Light Rail vehicle, three 
trucks, the trucks can and are moved between vehicles, but that particular truck, that was a 
center truck.  There are three trucks.  Each end is the A and the B, and then the C truck which is 
the center.  That was a center truck, and so that center truck could not be returned to service 
until full overhaul. 

 
MAYOR BALES (Town of Huntersville):  It's very clear that maintenance is overdue.  

Have you been able to get to the root cause of why maintenance had continually been 
deferred? 

 
INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  I have heard many reasons, none that have satisfied me. 
 
MAYOR BALES:  Now, I've only been serving on the MTC for a little more than a year, 

and I came into this role optimistic that collectively as a region we could move public 
transportation forward.  And Commissioner Altman, I hear what you said when you talked about 
there being two things here.  I have been a huge advocate for your authority, as we've talked 
about that for over a year now, but the trust that has been broken with our residents, with our 
families, I consider those that we represent, they are our families.  We've got to find a way to fix 
that trust. 

Mr. Cagle, I don't envy the position that you're in, but I want to thank you for taking 
those necessary steps in being transparent with us because that's not an easy thing to do, 
especially with all the cameras, etc., here tonight.  But it's a start, or it's an inch forward.  I hope 
that we get to the bottom of a lot this, because it's not just maintenance on rail and on buses, 
but now I'm also hearing on bridge inspections and on parking garages. 

This is truly the whole organization.  I would like to think that those that are working 
within CATS will step up and will be transparent and will feel comfortable having the hard 
conversations and bringing out of the darkness and into the light the issues that we need to 
address to protect all of our families. 

28



   
Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 25 of 30 

 
MAYOR SIMMONS (Town of Mint Hill):  The number eight keeps coming up, that we're 

removing eight and sending eight at this time, and everything I read talks about expediting all of 
this.  Where did that number eight come from?  Is that the maximum number that we can send 
and still operate?  Is that a number that somebody decided that's all the cars we can afford to 
buy; where did that number come from? 

 
INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  As we work through with NCDOT that is correct, sir, we 

were trying to balance the fleet needed to run the system, to run the schedule, plus the spares 
needed, with the number we could send out.  It also has to do with how quickly we could get 
dollies.  And we could get the one spare set from the other transit agency and Siemens is able to 
send us six new dollies almost immediately.  Actually Siemens, we are going to Council on April 
10th, but I had a long conversation with Siemens executives and said look, we can't wait five 
weeks for you to build these things, please start now.  They have already started based on a 
notice to proceed that we issued.  It's both operational needs and the availability of dollies or 
new dollies at a quick speed. 

 
MAYOR SIMMONS (Town of Mint Hill):  I also believe I heard you say that we are 

awaiting Siemens to give us a date as far as when this scheduling could be done.  I would hope 
that on our end at this point in time, with the past performance that we've already seen, that 
we would get with Siemens and request the date that we'd like to have these things done, and 
instead of us working around Siemens' schedule I think it's time we be proactive and we start 
working around our own schedule and setting our own schedules in going through this. 

 
INTERIM CATS CEO CAGLE:  Yes, sir, I agree.  We have gone to California to sit down 

with their executives to say this schedule is not adequate, so we have requested but we've 
strongly requested, and we have done our part to remove barriers by not being able to send 
enough equipment.  I will tell you, and again, we are having the conversations.  Sometimes I am 
hesitant to put out information that I don't have a 100 percent on.  I believe, based on a 
conversation today with Siemens, that their path forward will be to complete the truck 
overhauls, all fleet, by January of 2025.  Now, I will confirm that, and I'm saying here I hate to 
put that information out, but it is important for us to know we are doing everything to push 
Siemens to move that forward. 

Thinking about that, July 2025 half the fleet, January 2025 all of the fleet.  And as each 
of those vehicles/trucks goes out and we receive them, we will go from 100% needing it to 20%, 
those numbers will get better and better in our favor with the repairs as we go, and we will be 
working directly with NCDOT to keep them informed of that and the status.  But right now, our 
tentative schedule looks like January of 2025 for the whole fleet. 

 
MAYOR SIMMONS (Town of Mint Hill):  The only other thing I have to add is I 

understand part of this is culture.  I'll buy into that.  I absolutely do buy into that.  But many, 
many times throughout this evening we've talked about this contractor, this contractor, this 
needs to be done, this needs to be done, so these are funds that are moving around all the time, 
and those should show up in the accounting process as well.  It doesn't require for somebody to 
come into your office and tell you that we've got a problem here.  And I understand that you 
weren't in that office, so please don't think I'm pointing any fingers, but there has to be some 
checks and balances in place that hey, all of a sudden, we approve the money in I think it was 
2019 or 2020 suggested earlier, but that money never got spent.  It's not all culture. 

29



   
Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 26 of 30 

We've got some other problems in the wheels here, and it's not all culture and it's not 
all the fact that the employees aren't willing to come forward and talk about it.  We've got some 
other problems that need to be addressed as well.  I hope we'll address those at the same time.   

As far as Commissioner Altman, when she gets ready to make her motion here shortly, 
she's not going to have any trouble getting a second on that motion because I do believe that 
we need to have some outside eyes looking at this with people that have not dealt with this 
situation before, they're not involved with this situation currently, they can take a fresh look at 
it.  With that I say thank you. 

 
MAYOR KNOX (Town of Davidson):  We've had a lot of buzzwords tonight.  We've heard 

trust and accountability and transparency and leadership.  The first word that comes to mind for 
me is systemwide failure when it comes to preventative maintenance.  My wife and I were on 
that Blue Line two weeks ago, and it appalls me to know that I find out a week later that we had 
a derailment almost a year ago and I'm riding on that rail.  That concerns me. 

But deferred maintenance and preventative maintenance is just an outright failure.  If 
you have the budget to do it and you don't do it, there's a problem.  There's no point in putting 
blame on our CEO, our COO, our CFO that are no longer here.  Blame doesn't fix anything.  We 
have to look at moving forward.  I don't know how we're going to correct this.  But I will tell you 
the preventative maintenance end should just be a no-brainer, and I thank you, Brent, for what 
measures are being taken at this time. 

Now, I may be the senior person on this board.  I've been sitting here for six years now.  
I am fortunate to be a mayor with 140 employees in my town.  I am only responsible for two of 
those jobs, and that's my town manager and my town attorney.  Everybody else answers to 
somebody else.  But I, like you, go in the field.  I am with my police officers at shift change.  I go 
to the range with them.  I hang out at the fire stations, eat lunch with my firefighters.  I go to 
public works.  I've worked construction before so I know their families, I know their kids, I know 
what's going on, so to that end I appreciate your leadership for getting out in the field because 
at the end of the day when someone has a problem in the Town of Davidson, they know that 
they can confide in me and come to me.  And it's not going to go any further than that because 
they have a superior that they can report it to, and I will urge them to do that.  To that end, 
thank you for doing that. 

Accountability, Krissy you brought that word up.  The buck stops with you right now, so 
you've got to be accountable for this and you've got to be accountable for previous failures, so I 
appreciate the measures that you're taking thus far. 

Transparency, Leigh, you said it.  You just saw this tonight for the first time.  A lack of 
transparency historically is not a good track record, and we can do better than this.  And lastly 
trust.  It's not a matter of just trusting this board, it's a matter of the folks that are out there in 
TV land that are going to see this at the 11 o'clock news tonight having trust in us that we are 
going to provide a good, safe, secure product for them to engage in and utilize when it comes to 
public transportation.  And the message that is being emulated tonight is far from that.  

The onus of trust is not just on you as our Interim CEO, it's on all of us as well as 
representatives and stewards of our community.  We're going to have to glean what we can 
from any information we get and carry it to the public and say give us a second chance because 
it's a black eye right now and we don't need to have a black eye, we need to be moving forward.  
With that I'll defer to whoever's next. 

 
MAYOR EDWARDS (Town of Pineville):  It's very disturbing because I read all of this a 

couple of days ago when Leigh sent it out.  If this were the private sector that I came out of, 

30



   
Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 27 of 30 

heads would have already been rolling.  There's got to be people in management positions that 
knew everything that was going on, and it was neglected for whatever reason.  When budgets 
are approved, oh, my God, I just can't believe it.  I want to thank Leigh Altman for staying on 
this, and it's an important issue. 

Mr. Cagle, you inherited a hornet's nest as they would say, and you have done a 
yeoman's job I feel in bringing a lot of this to light.  I don't put any of this on you at all.  You have 
answered the questions, and ones you couldn't answer you said I'll find out and I'll get you an 
answer.  I appreciate your honesty and your straightforwardness.  But it's just disturbing that we 
have put passengers at risk.  Even though that wasn't a total derailment, it's putting passengers 
at risk and continues today, and you need to get to the bottom of who, why, and where, and 
why people didn't come forward knowing that this stuff was not being done.  That's all I have to 
say.  Thank you very much, everybody. 

 
TOWN MANAGER GRANT (Cornelius):  Mayor Washam had to step aside to another 

meeting. 
 
MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  Mr. Grant, we certainly would like to hear from him.  

Please, if you guys have thought through this, send us an email or any comments that you have.  
We really want this to be a group that has had the opportunity to discuss it.  I mean, we've 
talked about this significantly, wanting every member to have an opportunity to ask these 
questions, and if you need to schedule something with Brent that's fine as well.  We appreciate 
that. 

We also have several other folks that ordinarily join us, and I believe I'll start with Mr. 
Thunberg from Mooresville.  Mr. Thunberg, do you have any comments or suggestions as a 
result of this presentation and the conversations that you've heard so far? 

 
MR. THUNBERG (Town of Mooresville Representative):  Thank you, Madam Chair, and I 

appreciate you asking.  I think this goes along with what Rusty said, I think I heard earlier in the 
presentation, I think I heard essentially that Mr. Cagle said that the buck stops here, and I 
believe him.  Having listened to some of the other comments here, I think the accountability 
portion starts at the next meeting when he brings forward the schedules, those maintenance 
schedules, and shows us what's planned and what has been done and is transparent with 
regards to the specifics of those things.  I'm sure that he's anxious to be able to do that because 
certainly it shows the action and the way things have been moving forward. 

I think Krissy Oechslin and Ms. Altman deserve our thanks for staying on top of this and 
being proactive with regards to trying to point out some of these deficiencies, and so I'm not 
going to belabor the past but I'm going to go ahead and look to the future.  I think we ought to 
continually check with Krissy and Leigh to see how we're doing. 

 
MAYOR REID (City of Gastonia):  Not to be redundant on the question that has been 

asked, I've had a follow-up from the question that has been asked so I don't want to rehash 
what has already been said, but I am concerned about what has taken place but I'm even more 
concerned about the solutions to address the problems.  Thank you, Mayor. 

 
MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  As a result of this, I think one of the things that we're 

doing tonight is to be able to speak up and to do that with all of the media, as Mayor Bales said, 
and to have this honest conversation and to have it in a way that is respectful of each other has 
been a tremendous effort for each of you and really, really appreciated, but we're not done yet, 

31



   
Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 28 of 30 

and I mean that in both the long term as well as the things that we have to finish up tonight.  
There are going to be additional items that we need to do.  

I do want to say that we are in a situation where we are trying to send out information 
in advance. I think we sent out packets two or three days ago, I can't remember.  Look for more 
of those kinds of opportunities to communicate because we only meet once a month, and 
sometimes that can be six weeks because of holidays.  We are going to continuously try to use 
packages of information to go out in a way to make sure that everybody has an opportunity to 
review the materials of the meeting. 

The next thing that I would like to say is that Commissioner Altman has suggested to put 
a motion on the floor.  I would like for us to have that motion now and then have any discussion 
as it's being made.  I think that you got a second from Mayor Simmons, so Ms. Altman? 

 
COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  Thank you.  I'm fine to go forward 

with my motion if Mr. Attorney, we don't need to now vote to allow us to add the action item 
on the agenda that was already published.  Are we good to go with my making the motion? 

 
CATS LEGAL COUNSEL BRAD THOMAS:  Well, to stick with the Rules of Procedure yes, 

we need a unanimous vote to put it on as an action item. 
 
COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  I move to put on the agenda an 

action item related to contracting with the third-party entity to investigate these measures. 
 
MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  Wouldn't it be best to put the motion that she wants 

to have on the agenda so that people know what it is? 
 
COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  I can articulate the exact motion. 
 
MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  Yes, I think that's what I was getting at. 
 
COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  Okay, I can read what the motion 

will be and then we have to vote to add it.  Because MTC's legal counsel has advised me that the 
MTC does not have its own budget nor contracting authority to hire a consultant, and because 
the expense must flow through the City, my motion will be to move that the MTC adopt a 
resolution requesting that a third-party transit consultant perform an operational investigation 
to establish facts related to the train derailment specifically, the bridge impairment, the failure 
to order buses in a timely manner, and any other issues related to the bus and rail operations, 
safety, security, and asset maintenance.  I further request that the resolution provide that an 
RFP for this work go out on an expedited basis and the consultant report back to the MTC on an 
expedited basis. 

 
MAYOR SIMMONS (Town of Mint Hill) and MAYOR BALES (Town of Huntersville)):  

Second. 
 
MAYOR KNOX (Town of Davidson):  A motion to add that to the agenda, correct? 
 
CATS LEGAL COUNSEL BRAD THOMAS:  Right, an action item.  (Motion carried 

unanimously.) 
 

32



Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 29 of 30 

MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  With that, we will now move to a discussion of that 
resolution since it's now been placed on the agenda.  I won't ask you to read it again, but we can 
go ahead.  Is there any discussion regarding the motion?  (No further discussion.) 

One of the things that I want to ask:  Is there any reaction to this, anything that people 
would like to have a question about?  (No response.) 

The thing that I want to make sure that I'm correct in this, the City Council would have 
to approve from the CATS budget, so what we're doing is a resolution that will require an action 
of the City Council, am I right, Brad?  I'm making sure. 

CATS LEGAL COUNSEL BRAD THOMAS:  Yes, that's correct. 

MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  And in that situation, one of the things that I would 
hope that we do is actually provide the minutes of this meeting to all of the City Council 
members so that they can hear what was being discussed and acknowledge that, because I think 
if we're going to go out and look for a consultant we want the consultant to be razor-sharp in 
what we want them to accomplish, and I think this meeting has been very helpful in defining a 
number of those ideas, concepts, concerns, you know, how do we deal with things like this 
when it happens in an organization. 

I hope that what we will see is that the City Council would have the opportunity to 
develop a list of folks that might do this work as well as the scope of the work, based upon the 
conversations tonight, and be able to bring that back or send it out to the MTC members so that 
we are all aligned so that we make this work.  If we're going to expedite things, we need to 
make sure that we are aligned and providing that information between both of the 
organizations. 

COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  May I be heard on that? 

MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  Yes. 

COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  Of course, the City has different 
procedures, and I'm not familiar with many of them.  I know that in the County the manager has 
authority to send out an RFP that she doesn't always have to go to the full board in order to 
submit an RFP, and I'm wondering is that not the case with the City, only because I am trying to 
expedite this.  I think this board certainly has the right to want to have this.  I would like for us to 
be able to move forward without having to do more, but my question to you, sir, would be do all 
of your RFPs have to go to City Council for approval. 

CITY MANAGER MARCUS JONES (Charlotte):  I'm not exactly sure how this will work.  I'd 
like to rely back on legal help to see how this should be handled. 

CATS LEGAL COUNSEL BRAD THOMAS:  My understanding of it would be it would 
depend on the value, and so I think it is possible for that to move forward without an actual 
Council approval, but it would depend on the value. 

COMMISSIONER ALTMAN (Mecklenburg County):  Okay, then I respectfully submit that 
if we can find out what the value is and that if we can move forward without having to go 
through more machinations to expedite this, that that would be in the best interest of the safety 
of our residents. 

33



Metropolitan Transit Commission  
Meeting Summary March 22, 2023 Page 30 of 30 

MAYOR LYLES (City of Charlotte):  We are going to now vote on the action to have an 
outside transit consultant expedited with the scope of services to review the areas of safety and 
maintenance and all things transit that we have discussed tonight. All in favor of that motion 
please raise your hands.  (A unanimous show of hands.) 

Thank you for the open discussion.  I know it is late, and those of you THAT want to stay 
feel free to do so, but we do have to have a couple other items on our agenda tonight and let 
me go back to those.  Now we need to address the issues around our budget, or the budget that 
we would submit to the Charlotte City Council for approval.   

Resolution:  A motion to add to the MTC Agenda dated March 22nd, 2023 and approve an action 
item that the MTC adopt a resolution requesting that a third-party transit consultant perform an 
operational investigation to establish facts related to the train derailment specifically, the bridge 
impairment, the failure to order buses in a timely manner, and any other issues related to the 
bus and rail operations, safety, security, and asset maintenance.  And further request that the 
resolution provide that a RFP for this work go out on an expedited basis and the consultant 
report back to the MTC on an expedited basis was made by Commissioner Leigh Altman 
(Mecklenburg Board of County Commissioners); seconded by Mayor Brad Simmons (Town of 
Mint Hill).  Motion carried unanimously.  

X. MTC Commissioners’ Business - None

XI. Other Business – None

XII. Adjourn
The meeting was adjourned at 8:12 p.m. by Mayor Vi Lyles, City of Charlotte – MTC
Chairwoman.

NEXT MTC MEETING:  WEDNESDAY, APRIL 26TH, 2023; STARTS AT 5:30 P.M.  

34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



175



176



177



178



179



180



181



182



183



184



185



186



187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



199



200



201



202



203



204



205



206



207



208



209



210



211



212



213



214



215



216



217



218



219



220



221



222



223



224



225



226



227



228



229



230



231



232



233



234



235



236



237



238



239



240



241



242



243



244



245



246



247



248



249



250



251



252



253



254



255



256



257



258



259



260



261



262



263



264



265



266



267



268



269



270



271



272



273



274



275



276



277



278



279



280



281



282



283



284



285



286



287



288



289



290



291



292



293



294



295



296



297



298



299



300



301



302



303



304



305



306



307



308



309



310



311



312



313



314



315



316



317



318



319



320



321



322



323



324



325



326



327



328



329



330



331



332



333



334



335



336



337



338



339



340



341



342



343



344



345



346



347



348



349



350



351



352



353



354



355



356



357



358



359



360



361



362



363



364



365



366



367



368



369



370



371



372



373



374



375



376



377



378



379



380



381



382



383



384



385



386



387



388



389



390



391



392



393



394



395



396



397



398



399



400



401



402



403



404



405



406



407



408



409



410



411



412



413



414



415



416



417



418



419



420



421



422



423



Metropolitan Transit Commission

Charlotte Area Transit System Ridership Report

Mar-23

Mode / Service Percent YTD YTD Percent Avg Daily Ridership per Month
Mar-23 Mar-22 Increase/Decrease FY 2023 FY 2022 Increase/Decrease WeekDay Saturday Sunday

Local
  BOD Local 518,884 478,630 8.4 % 4,147,785 4,154,488 -0.2 % 18,423 14,408 9,380
  Subtotal 518,884 478,630 8.4 % 4,147,785 4,154,488 -0.2 % 18,423 14,408 9,380
Local Express
  Arboretum Express 846 - n/a 2,192 - n/a 37 - -
  Harrisburg Road Express 1,009 652 54.8 % 8,001 4,959 61.3 % 44 - -
  Northcross Express 2,704 1,946 39.0 % 21,179 5,749 268.4 % 118 - -
  Idlewild Road Express 874 836 4.5 % 6,524 4,990 30.7 % 38 - -
  Independence Blvd Express 2,069 1,766 17.2 % 14,563 5,993 143.0 % 90 - -
  Lawyers Road Express 977 849 15.1 % 7,328 3,989 83.7 % 42 - -
  Mountain Island Express 124 - n/a 400 - n/a 5 - -
  Northlake Express 2,021 1,434 40.9 % 13,016 4,595 183.3 % 88 - -
  North Mecklenburg Express 4,137 3,214 28.7 % 28,469 11,158 155.1 % 180 - -
  Huntersville Express 3,424 2,720 25.9 % 22,938 9,871 132.4 % 149 - -
  Rea Road Express 1,400 1,162 20.5 % 9,436 5,293 78.3 % 61 - -
  Steele Creek Express 251 - n/a 808 - n/a 11 - -
  Huntersville Greenhouse Express 73 302 -75.8 % 953 1,233 -22.7 % 3 - -
  Subtotal 19,909 14,881 33.8 % 135,807 57,830 134.8 % 866 -
Regional Express
  Gastonia Express 914 983 -7.0 % 6,139 5,891 4.2 % 40 - -
  Rock Hill Express 899 897 0.2 % 5,938 3,968 49.6 % 39 - -
  Union County Express 693 664 4.4 % 5,883 3,109 89.2 % 30 - -
  Subtotal 2,506 2,544 -1.5 % 17,960 12,968 38.5 % 109 -
Community Circulator
  Neighborhood Shuttles 16,859 12,745 32.3 % 131,104 111,045 18.1 % 634 436 136
  Eastland Neighborhood Shuttle 9,604 7,926 21.2 % 74,533 65,138 14.4 % 317 341 236
  Pineville-Matthews Road 1,782 1,322 34.8 % 14,808 11,225 31.9 % 68 52 -
  Village Rider 3,828 3,553 7.7 % 34,383 29,051 18.4 % 135 120 58
  Subtotal 32,073 25,546 25.5 % 254,828 216,459 17.7 % 1,154 949 430
Human Services Transportation
  Special Transportation Services 17,767 14,008 26.8 % 140,445 120,609 16.4 % 683 304 214
  DSS 1,755 298 488.9 % 8,505 19,115 -55.5 % 73 16 1
  Subtotal 19,522 14,306 36.5 % 148,950 139,724 6.6 % 756 320 215
Rideshare Services
  Vanpool 4,276 3,741 14.3 % 34,657 28,000 23.8 % 169 44 54
  Subtotal 4,276 3,741 14.3 % 34,657 28,000 23.8 % 169 44 54

424



Metropolitan Transit Commission

Charlotte Area Transit System Ridership Report

Mar-23

Mode / Service Percent YTD YTD Percent Avg Daily Ridership per Month
Mar-23 Mar-22 Increase/Decrease FY 2023 FY 2022 Increase/Decrease WeekDay Saturday Sunday

Rail
  LYNX Blue Line 458,092 389,434 17.6 % 3,786,115 2,692,200 40.6 % 15,429 17,633 8,172
  CityLynx Gold Line 55,749 41,849 33.2 % 448,310 223,151 100.9 % 1,922 1,756 1,130
  Subtotal 513,841 431,283 19.1 % 4,234,425 2,915,351 45.2 % 17,351 19,389 9,302

Total 1,111,011 970,931 14.4 % 8,974,412 7,524,820 19.3 % 38,828 35,110 19,381

425



Metropolitan Transit Commission

Charlotte Area Transit System Ridership Report

Mar-23

Source:

Fixed Route Bus - Automatic Passenger Counts

Rail - Automatic Passenger Counts

Mode / Service Mar-23 Mar-22

Percent 

Increase / 

Decrease Weekday Saturday Sunday

Local

BOD Local 688,014  654,852  5.1% 24,923     17,286     11,653     

Subtotal 688,014  654,852  5.1% 24,923 17,286 11,653

Local Express

Arboretum Express 947          - - 41            - -

Harrisburg Road Express 1,176       990          18.8% 51            - -

Northcross Express 1,477       1,694       -12.8% 64            - -

Idlewild Express 1,140       1,053       8.3% 50            - -

Independence Blvd Express 1,412       1,656       -14.7% 61            - -

Lawyers Road Express 1,329       1,148       15.7% 58            - -

Steele Creek Express 466          - - 20            - -

Northlake Express 1,642       1,845       -11.0% 71            - -

North Mecklenburg Express 1,609       1,977       -18.6% 70            - -

Huntersville Express 1,528       1,889       -19.1% 66            - -

Rea Road Express 1,358       1,344       1.1% 59            - -

Mountain Island Express 328          - - 14            - -

Huntersville Greenhouse 164          158          3.8% 7               - -

Subtotal 14,576     13,753     6.0% 634          - -

Regional Express

Gastonia Express 1,233       1,263       -2.4% 54            - -

Rock Hill Express 1,071       1,299       -17.6% 47            - -

Union County Express 1,031       1,072       -3.8% 45            - -

Subtotal 3,334       3,634       -8.3% 145          - -

Average Daily Ridership

426



Community Circulator

Neighborhood Shuttles 23,105     19,262     20.0% 845          645          274          

Eastland Neighborhood Shuttle 11,973     10,405     15.1% 406          401          257          

Pineville-Matthews Road 2,715       2,385       13.9% 103          90            -

Village Rider 7,270       6,915       5.1% 245          229          178          

Subtotal 45,064     38,967     15.6% 1,598       1,109       709          

Human Services Transportation

Special Transportation Services 17,767 14,008 26.8% 683 304 214

DSS 1,755 298 488.9% 73 - -

Subtotal 19,522 14,306 36.5% 756 304 214

Rideshare Services

Vanpool 4,276 3,741 14.3% 169 44 40

Subtotal 4,276 3,741 14.3% 169 44 40

Rail

LYNX Blue Line 458,092 389,434 12.9% 15,429 17,633 8,172

CityLynx Gold Line 55,749 41,849 33.2% 1,922 1,756 1,130

Subtotal 513,841 431,283 19.1% 17,351 19,389 9,302

Total 1,288,628 1,160,536 11.0% 45,576 38,132 21,918

427



428



Sales Tax Collections and Distribution – December 2022

• The December 2022 receipts of $14,644,501 were $2,244,570 (18.1%) above budget
target for the month

• The December 2022 receipts were $1,014,509 (7.4%) above forecast for the month
• The December 2022 receipts were $1,142,933 (8.5%) above December 2021

Sales Tax Budget Data

• FY2023 sales tax budget is $136,807,021
• The FY23 model forecasts year-end receipts of $150,670,165 which is $13,863,143

(10%) above the FY23 budget target of $136,807,021
• FY2022 actual sales tax was $139,225,568

Local Government Sales and Use Tax Distribution

• Source: North Carolina Department of Revenue Sales & Use Distribution Report for
the month January 31, 2023

• Published by NC Secretary of Revenue on 03/10/2023 with actual receipts through
January 2023.

• CATS sales tax report only includes Mecklenburg County Article 43 sales tax

MARCH|CATSSalesTaxReport FY2023
November Receipts

FY2023 Budget Sales Tax Receipts (Actuals and Forecasts)

FY2023 Budget Sales Tax Comparison Year over Year

FY2023 Budget Tax Receipts: FY2019 - FY2022

$-
$10 
$20 
$30 
$40 
$50 
$60 
$70 
$80 
$90 

$100 
$110 
$120 
$130 
$140 
$150 

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June

CU
M

U
LA

TI
VE

 M
O

N
TH

LY
 R

EC
EI

PT
S 

(M
IL

LI
O

N
S)

FY2023 Sales Tax Receipts Forecast

FY2023 Receipts FY2022 Receipts

Budget Trendline Forecast Trendline

Jurisdiction Population % of Total Jul 22
Actuals

Aug 22
Actuals

Sep 22
Actuals

Oct 22
Actuals

Nov 22
Actuals

Dec 22
Actuals

Jan 23
Forecasts

Feb 23
Forecasts

Mar 23
Forecasts

April 23
Forecasts

May 23
Forecasts

Jun 23
Forecasts Total

Charlotte 878,778 40.4% $  5,125,892 $  5,204,877 $  5,465,688 $      5,366,667 $   5,313,561 $   5,916,721 $  4,088,403 $  4,197,849 $   5,288,458 $  4,809,052 $  4,717,794 $      5,379,312 $   60,874,274 
Cornelius 31,442 1.4% $     183,400 $     186,227 $     195,558 $    192,015 190,115 211,696 146,280 150,196 $      189,217 172,064 168,799 192,468 2,178,035 
Davidson 14,907 0.7% $       86,952 $       88,292 $       92,716 $    91,037 90,136 100,367 69,353 71,209 $    89,710 81,578 80,029 91,251 1,032,630 
Huntersville 61,840 2.8% $     360,711 $     366,270 $     384,623 $    377,655 373,918 416,362 287,703 295,405 $      372,151 338,415 331,993 378,545 4,283,750 
Matthews 29,502 1.4% $     172,084 $     174,736 $     183,492 $    180,168 178,385 198,634 137,254 140,929 $      177,542 161,448 158,384 180,592 2,043,648 
Mint Hill 26,465 1.2% $     154,370 $     156,748 $     164,603 $    161,621 160,022 178,186 123,125 126,421 $      159,266 144,828 142,080 162,002 1,833,270 
Pineville 10,651 0.5% $       62,127 $       63,084 $       66,245 $    65,045 64,402 71,712 49,552 50,879 $    64,097 58,287 57,181 65,199 737,811 
Meck. County 1,121,482 51.6% $  6,541,578 $  6,642,379 $  6,975,221 $      6,848,852 6,781,079 7,550,822 5,217,553 5,357,226 $   6,749,042 6,137,232 6,020,771 6,864,990 77,686,746 
Total 2,175,067 100.0% $12,687,115 $ 12,882,613 $13,528,146 $    13,283,060 $ 13,151,617 $ 14,644,501 $10,119,224 $10,390,113 $ 13,089,483 $ 11,902,903 $11,677,031 $    13,314,358 $  150,670,164 

YTD Budget $   69,274,186 
Variance (YTD) $   10,902,867 

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May June YTD Total
Year-over-Year Comparison (FY23-FY22) 12.3% 20.9% 22.2% 17.1% 8.6% 8.5% -1.0% 25.0% -2.0% 4.7% -9.7% 2.1% 8.2%
FY23 Budget Target $10,837,385 $ 11,730,084 $11,265,334 $    11,050,554 $ 11,990,897 $ 12,399,931 $10,211,129 $  9,806,473 $ 12,405,318 $ 11,428,653 $10,914,935 $    12,766,327 $  136,807,021 
% of FY23 Budget Achieved 9.3% 18.7% 28.6% 38.3% 47.9% 58.6% 66.0% 73.6% 83.2% 91.9% 100.4% 110.1% 110.1%



430



METROPOLITAN TRANSIT COMMISSION 
INFORMATION ITEM 
STAFF SUMMARY 

 
 
SUBJECT:  Transit Services Update          DATE: April 26, 2023  
 
  
1.0 PURPOSE/SCOPE:  Staff will provide update on current service levels, proposed 

service changes to the CityLYNX Gold Line and current status on the Microtransit 
initiative. 
 
BACKGROUND/JUSTIFICATION:  On August 15, 2022, CATS implemented service 
changes to Rail and Bus schedules to improve reliability. The recommendation was 
based upon ridership levels and operator availability. CATS staff has continued to 
monitor both variables as well route performance levels to inform future service level 
recommendations. 
 
CATS has conducted stakeholder and public meetings to receive feedback on the 
implementation of Microtransit services.  Microtransit was a key staff Envision My Ride 
recommendation that was adopted by the MTC in May 2022. 

 
2.0 PROCUREMENT BACKGROUND:  N/A 
 
3.0 POLICY IMPACT:  N/A 
 
4.0 ECONOMIC IMPACT:  N/A 
 
5.0 ALTERNATIVES:  N/A 

 
6.0 RECOMMENDATION:  N/A  
 
7.0 ATTACHMENT(S):  N/A  
 

    SUBMITTED AND RECOMMENDED BY: 
 

     
    __________________________________________ 
    Brent Cagle 
    Interim CEO, Charlotte Area Transit System 

Assistant City Manager, City of Charlotte 

431



432



433



434



435



436



437



438



439



METROPOLITAN TRANSIT COMMISSION 
INFORMATION ITEM 
STAFF SUMMARY 

 
 
SUBJECT:  LYNX Silver Line Refined Locally                    DATE: April 26, 2023 
         Preferred Alternative (LPA) Potential Amity Gardens  
         Station Removal 
 
        
1.0 PURPOSE/SCOPE: To purpose of this Information item is to provide an overview to the 

MTC about the potential removal of the Amity Gardens Stations, based on staff 
recommendations and community engagement. 
 

2.0 BACKGROUND/JUSTIFICATION:  
 
As part of continued refinements to the Silver Line project definition, CATS is evaluating 
the removal of the Amity Gardens Station.  Removing this station will achieve several 
overall project benefits, while reducing the potential for negative community impacts. 
Oakhurst and Amity Gardens neighborhood access to the Silver Line would be 
maintained at the proposed Sharon Amity station and parking garage. 
 
This potential change to the LPA was presented to the following community groups. The 
presentations included a general project update, the summary of the benefits and risks 
associated with the potential Amity Gardens Station removal along with appropriate time 
for Q&A.  
 

• 3/7 – CharlotteEAST meeting via Zoom 
• 3/14 – Oakhurst in-person meeting at Common Market 
• 4/4 – Amity Gardens in-person meeting at Eastern Hills Baptist Church 

 
3.0 PROCUREMENT BACKGROUND:  N/A 
 
4.0 POLICY IMPACT:  N/A 

  
4.0  ECONOMIC IMPACT:  N/A 
 
5.0  ALTERNATIVES:  N/A 
 
6.0  RECOMMENDATION: This item is presented as information in preparation for action at 

the May 26, 2023 MTC meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

440



7.0  ATTACHMENT(S):  
Attachment A:  LYNX Silver Line Refined Locally Preferred Alternative with potential 
refinement 
Attachment B:  LYNX Silver Line Locally Preferred Alternative Potential Refinement 

 
SUBMITTED AND RECOMMENDED BY: 

 

     
_________________________________________ 
Brent Cagle 
Interim Chief Executive Officer, Charlotte Area Transit System 
Assistant City Manager, City of Charlotte 

 
  

441



Attachment A 
 

LYNX Silver Line Refined Locally Preferred Alternative with potential refinement 
 
 

 
 

Attachment B 
442



 
LYNX Silver Line Locally Preferred Alternative Potential Refinement  

 
 
 

 

443



444



445



446



447



448



METROPOLITAN TRANSIT COMMISSION 
INFORMATION ITEM 
STAFF SUMMARY 

 
 
SUBJECT: Fare Equity Analysis CATS Fare Capping            DATE: April 26, 2023 
 
  
1.0 PURPOSE/SCOPE:  Presentation on the process, observations, comments and 

conclusions of the fare equity analysis for the Fare Capping. The MTC vote on the 
analysis is scheduled for the April 2023 MTC meeting.  

 
2.0 BACKGROUND/JUSTIFICATION:  As a recipient of federal funding CATS/City of 

Charlotte must conduct a fare equity analysis whenever a change in fares or fare media 
is due to occur. Some customers CATS do not have the funds to purchase a monthly 
pass at the beginning of the month, and Fare Capping was introduced to reward 
customers with a monthly pass once they have paid the equivalent value of $88 in any 
combination of eligible fares through the CATS Pass mobile app.  
 

3.0 RECOMMENDATION:  The MTC should approve the analysis as the Fare Capping 
expands fares and provides benefits to both low income and minority customers.  
 
Impacts:  The analysis concluded that minority and low income riders will not be limited 
or denied the benefits of the proposed fare changes.  The data indicated that a higher 
proportional benefit to minority customers due to the implementation of Fare Capping.  

 
4.0 ATTACHMENT(S):  2023 CATS Fare Capping Analysis 
 

   SUBMITTED AND RECOMMENDED BY: 
 

    
   __________________________________________ 
   Brent Cagle 
   Interim Chief Executive Officer, Charlotte Area Transit System 

Assistant City Manager, City of Charlotte 

449



Fare Capping Policy 

Financial & Equity Assessment 
February 2023 

450



CATS Fare Capping Policy Financial & Equity Assessment | i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1 INTRODUCTION......................................................................... 1 

2 FARE CAPPING POLICY FINANCIAL ANALYSIS ...................... 2 

2.1 Financial Analysis Assumptions .............................................. 2 

2.2 Financial Analysis Results ........................................................ 2 

3 FARE CAPPING POLICY EQUITY ASSESSMENT ....................... 4 

3.1 Equity Assessment (Current Fare Capping Policy) ............... 4 

3.2 Other Considerations ............................................................... 7 

LIST OF TABLES 

Table 2-1: Summary of Ticket Count by Activation Month ................................................................... 2 

Table 2-2: # of Unique Mobile Accounts & Fare Count by Activation Month ................................... 3 

Table 2-3: # of Mobile Accounts with Fare Cap Reached by Activation Month ................................ 3 

Table 3-1: Distribution of Weekday Minority & Low-Income Customers ........................................... 5 

Table 3-2: Distribution of Weekday Minority & Low-Income Customers ........................................... 5 

Table 3-3: Distribution of Ticket Purchases by Ticket Type – Minority Costumers ............................ 6 

Table 3-4: Distribution of Ticket Purchases by Ticket Type – Low-Income Costumers ..................... 6 

Table 3-5: Distribution of Customer Smartphone & Credit Card Access (Minority Status) .............. 7 

Table 3-6: Distribution of Customer Smartphone & Credit Card Access (Income Status) ............... 7 

Table 3-7: # of Reduced Ticket Mobile Accounts with Fare Cap Reached by Activation Month .... 8 

451



CATS Fare Capping Policy Financial & Equity Assessment | 1 

1 INTRODUCTION 

Charlotte Area Transit System (CATS) implemented a fare capping policy on September 21, 2022, to 

reward customers with a monthly pass once they have paid the equivalent value ($88) in any 

combination of eligible fares through the CATS-Pass mobile app. When customers reach this threshold, a 

monthly pass is automatically added to their CATS-Pass wallet, enabling them to ride local bus and light 

rail for free for the remainder of that month. The goal of this policy is to both improve customer 

experience and ensure CATS services are affordable and accessible to all, especially for customers who 

ride frequently but cannot afford the upfront cost of a monthly pass. 

The fare capping policy is currently implemented as a pilot to evaluate success over an approximate six-

month period. During this time, a financial analysis was completed to estimate both the cost savings to 

CATS-Pass customers under the new policy. An assessment of the corresponding reduction in fare 

revenue collections resulting from customers being awarded a monthly pass, rather than paying fares 

for the remainder of the month, was also completed.  

As a transit agency receiving federal funding through the Federal Transit Administration (FTA), CATS 

must conduct an equity assessment to evaluate the potential for impacts of any fare policy change on 

minority and low-income populations using guidance found in FTA Circular 4702.1B.  

This report documents the results of the financial assessment and fare equity assessment for the CATS 

fare capping policy.  

452



 

  CATS Fare Capping Policy Financial & Equity Assessment | 2 

2 FARE CAPPING POLICY FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 

2.1 Financial Analysis Assumptions 

An analysis of fares purchased by customers through their CATS-Pass mobile app leading up to the 

implementation of the new fare capping policy was completed to estimate the customer benefits and 

corresponding monthly fare revenue reductions. The dataset included all CATS-Pass mobile fare 

purchases over the four-month period of April-July 2022. The parameters of this analysis include: 

• The fare cap is based on the full fare monthly pass ($88) for the Local Bus and LYNX service.  

• Reduced fares for Local Bus and LYNX or other services, or fares for other services such as 

Express Bus, Express Bus Regional, etc., are not counted toward the fare cap. 

• Only tickets/passes activated via a CATS-Pass account within a calendar month are eligible 

toward the fare cap. Tickets purchased are not counted toward the fare cap until activated 

within the CATS-Pass app. 

• CATS-Pass accounts with multiple monthly passes activated within a calendar month were 

excluded from the analysis as the purchase of a secondary monthly pass would not apply toward 

the fare cap under the current policy. The analysis otherwise assumes that any combination of 

tickets/passes activated within a calendar month counts toward the fare cap as intended under 

the current policy. 

2.2 Financial Analysis Results 

This section presents the methodology used to review and calculate the potential financial impacts of 

the fare capping policy from both the customer and agency perspectives. Table 2-1 summarizes the 

dataset of activated fares by type during each month of the analysis period.  

TABLE 2-1: SUMMARY OF TICKET COUNT BY ACTIVATION MONTH  

Activation Period 

Fare Type & Value 

Total Activated 
Ticket Count 

Monthly Pass Weekly Pass Day Pass 
One-Way 

Ticket 

$88.00 $30.80 $6.60 $2.20 

April 2022 97 126 1,166 16,181 17,570 

May 2022 169 125 944 15,831 17,069 

June 2022 225 124 954 14,861 16,164 

July 2022 177 251 1,902 40,117 42,447 

Total 668 626 4,966 86,990 93,250 

Source: CATS Mobile Ticket Purchases (April-July 2022) 

The 93,250 activated fares were each linked to a distinct CATS-Pass account and summarized based on 

the month activated (Table 2-2).  

  

453



 

  CATS Fare Capping Policy Financial & Equity Assessment | 3 

TABLE 2-2: # OF UNIQUE MOBILE ACCOUNTS & FARE COUNT BY ACTIVATION MONTH 

Activation Period Total Fare Count 
# of Individual 

Mobile Accounts 

April 2022 17,570 4,969 

May 2022 17,069 5,069 

June 2022 16,164 5,113 

July 2022 42,447 8,368 

Total 93,250 23,519 

Source: CATS Mobile Ticket Purchases (April-July 2022) 

The fares activated under each CATS-Pass account were then analyzed to determine if the combined 

value exceeded the equivalent value of a monthly pass ($88) for the month. As shown in Table 2-3, less 

than 1% of the CATS-Pass accounts activated eligible fares that exceeded the $88 fare cap, equating to 

an average savings of approximately $17 per customer each month. From the agency’s perspective, this 

corresponds to an estimated fare revenue reduction of $679 per month.  

TABLE 2-3: # OF MOBILE ACCOUNTS WITH FARE CAP REACHED BY ACTIVATION MONTH 

Activation Month 
Total # of 

Mobile 
Accounts 

Mobile Accounts Where 
Fare Cap Reached 

Total Fare 
Value for 

Month 

$ / % of Total Fare Value 
Exceeding Monthly Fare Cap 

($88) # % 

April 2022 4,969 23 0.5% $111,421 $436 0.4% 

May 2022 5,069 26 0.5% $119,561 $385 0.3% 

June 2022 5,113 29 0.6% $62,610 $422 0.7% 

July 2022 8,368 78 0.9% $124,117 $1,472 1.2% 

Total 23,519 156 -- $417,710 $2,715 -- 

Monthly Average -- -- 0.6% $104,427 $679 0.6% 

CATS 2022 Customer Survey; total and monthly percentages reflect weighted averages for the four month period. 

Appendix A details the tickets/passes purchased under the 156 CATS-Pass accounts, along with the total 

fare value and estimated fare cap benefit (amount of the total fare value exceeding the $88 monthly 

pass cost for each month).  

  

454



CATS Fare Capping Policy Financial & Equity Assessment | 4 

3 FARE CAPPING POLICY EQUITY ASSESSMENT 

In accordance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and FTA Circular 4702.1B, CATS conducts an 

equity assessment any time a change is proposed to its fare structure to ensure that changes do not 

unfairly impact persons of color or who are low-income. For proposed changes that will increase or 

decrease fares system-wide, on certain transit modes, or by fare payment type or fare media, CATS shall 

analyze available customer data to understand whether the change will result in a disparate impact 

(when minorities are disproportionately represented) or disproportionate burden (when the low-income 

community is disproportionately impacted). If disparate impacts or disproportionate burdens are 

identified, an analysis will be performed to determine the effect on the impacted population(s). 

For purposes of this assessment and consistent with FTA Circular 4702.1B, the following definitions 

apply: 

• Minority is defined as a person who identifies being part of one or more racial/ethnic groups

besides White, non-Hispanic. Customer responses during survey questions regarding their race

and Hispanic ethnicity were used to determine minority status.

• Low-Income is defined as a person whose median household income is at or below the U.S.

Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) poverty guidelines. Customer responses during

survey questions regarding their annual household income and number of people living in their

household were used to determine low-income status.1

3.1 Equity Assessment (Current Fare Capping Policy) 

2022 Customer Survey Data 

To conduct this equity assessment, weekday data collected during the most recent CATS customer 

survey (August–October 2022) were used to determine whether enacting the fare capping policy 

indicates a disparate impact or disproportionate burden.  

The fare capping policy applies to a subset of customers who use the CATS-Pass mobile app to purchase 

any combination of eligible full fares, including one-way tickets, day passes, weekly passes, and monthly 

passes. Although the purchase of a monthly pass automatically equals the fare cap, there is nothing to 

preclude the purchase of individual tickets prior to the purchase of a monthly pass that would still 

provide the cost savings benefit of the fare cap. The type of fare a customer indicated for the surveyed 

trip was used to determine eligibility under the fare cap.  

1 The mid-point of the income range provided by the customer was used as the proxy for the customer’s annual 
household income amount. This, along with the persons per household response, was used to determine whether 
the customer is low-income based on the 2022 HHS poverty guidelines. 

455



 

  CATS Fare Capping Policy Financial & Equity Assessment | 5 

Although customers were asked where they purchased the fare used, there was not a sufficient 

response rate to further separate customers who purchased fares eligible toward the fare cap through 

the CATS-Pass mobile app versus other venues. Therefore, for purposes of this analysis, eligible 

tickets/passes purchased by customers via CATS-Pass or other venues are considered equal.  

CATS implemented the fare capping policy as a key strategy to improve rider experience and ensure its 

service is affordable and accessible to all, especially those who cannot afford the upfront cost of a 

monthly pass. The fare capping policy involves no change (increase or decrease) to the fare structure 

itself but may affect how much a customer pays for fares within a calendar month. For customers 

eligible for the fare cap there are no adverse impacts to the policy, only benefits in terms of cost savings 

once the fare cap is met in a calendar month.  

For this proposed change, the analysis examined whether minority or low-income customers may 

experience a lesser share of the positive impacts due to the implementation of this policy.  

Customer Demographic Profile 

Table 3-1 compares the percentage of minority and low-income customers for all surveyed (systemwide) 

to the subset of customers using a fare eligible toward the fare cap policy. The percentage of minority 

customers using an eligible fare is 18% higher than the systemwide dataset, while the percentages of 

low-income customers are similar across both datasets. This indicates that minority customers are more 

likely to purchase a fare type eligible toward the fare cap policy compared to all available fare types. 

TABLE 3-1: DISTRIBUTION OF WEEKDAY MINORITY & LOW-INCOME CUSTOMERS 

CATS Customers (weekday) 
Minority 

Customers 
Low-Income 
Customers 

Systemwide 62.6% 21.8% 

Fare Type Eligible for Fare Cap1 74.1% 22.4% 

Source: CATS 2022 Customer Survey  
1Includes full fare one-way ticket, day pass, weekly pass, or monthly pass. 

For reference, Table 3-2 provides the percentage of minority and low-income populations for CATS’ 

overall service area, as documented in the agency’s 2020 Title VI Program.  

TABLE 3-2: DISTRIBUTION OF WEEKDAY MINORITY & LOW-INCOME CUSTOMERS 

Service Area 
Minority 

Population 
Low-Income 
Population 

CATS Service Area Population 49.0% 15.9% 

Source: CATS 2020 Title VI Program–Table 13 (minority) and Table 14 (low-income); 
data in the source document from the U.S. Census Bureau, 2011-2015 American 
Community Survey. 
 

  

456



 

  CATS Fare Capping Policy Financial & Equity Assessment | 6 

Equity Assessment 

The customer survey data were filtered based on fare types eligible toward the fare cap, then analyzed 

to understand the correlation between usage and fare price by demographic group.  

As shown in Table 3-3, the data indicate that minority customers are more likely to purchase lower-cost 

one-way tickets and less likely to purchase higher-cost multi-trip passes. This suggests that a higher 

proportion of minority customers could benefit from the fare capping policy by eliminating the up-front 

cost of purchasing a calendar month pass and enabling customers to purchase a monthly pass in smaller 

increments.  

TABLE 3-3: DISTRIBUTION OF TICKET PURCHASES BY TICKET TYPE – MINORITY COSTUMERS 

Fare Type Amount All Customers Minority Customers Non-Minority Customers 

One-Way $2.20 2,173 63% 1,668 65% 505 56% 

Day Pass $6.60 211 6% 150 6% 61 7% 

Weekly Pass $30.80 451 13% 287 11% 164 18% 

Monthly Pass $88.00 626 18% 459 18% 167 19% 

Total  3,461  2,564   897   

Source: CATS 2022 Customer Survey 

A similar assessment for low-income customers was undertaken. As shown in Table 3-4, low-income 

customers are more likely to purchase higher-cost multi-trip passes. However, it is important to note 

that, of the fare types listed in the table, a higher proportion of low-income customers purchase 

discounted tickets/pass options (23%) compared to higher-income customers (12%). Further, there is a 

higher percentage of low-income customers that ride CATS frequently (86%), defined as riding three to 

seven days per week on average, compared to higher-income customers (82%).  

TABLE 3-4: DISTRIBUTION OF TICKET PURCHASES BY TICKET TYPE – LOW-INCOME COSTUMERS 

Fare Type Amount All Customers Low-Income Customers Higher Income Customers 

One-Way $2.20 2,173 63% 435 58% 1,738 64% 

Day Pass $6.60 211 6% 35 5% 176 7% 

Weekly Pass $30.80 451 13% 144 19% 307 11% 

Monthly Pass $88.00 626 18% 142 19% 484 18% 

Total  3,461  756   2,705   

Source: CATS 2022 Customer Survey 

Summary 

The proposed fare policy changes required a fare equity assessment to identify any potential disparate 

impact on minority riders and/or disproportionate burden on low-income riders. The technical analysis 

using survey data found: 

• No potential disparate impact/disproportionate representation on minority riders associated 

with the introduction of a fare capping policy.  

• No potential disproportionate burden on low-income riders associated with the introduction of 

the fare capping policy.  

457



 

  CATS Fare Capping Policy Financial & Equity Assessment | 7 

• The result of this equity assessment concludes that minority and low-income riders will not be 

limited or denied the benefits of the proposed fare changes. The data indicate a higher 

proportional benefit to minority customers because of the new policy. 

3.2 Other Considerations 

The findings of this analysis do not prompt CATS to consider possible measures to avoid, minimize, 

and/or mitigate adverse impacts on minority or low-income riders within the parameters of the current 

fare capping policy. Albeit, there were no adverse impacts presented, as customers who reach the cap 

will benefit from this policy by paying less for fares over the course of a calendar month compared to if 

the policy were not in place. Other considerations related to fare capping and CATS’ specific policy are 

discussed below. 

Barriers to Fare Capping Benefits 

Although the intention of fare capping is to provide equity in fare cost versus trips taken among transit 

customers, there are potential barriers to accessing the benefits of fare capping, particularly for 

vulnerable users. These barriers primarily include the need for both a smartphone (mobile device with 

internet) and credit/debit card to pay for fares via the mobile account.  

An analysis of smartphone and credit access was undertaken for those customers surveyed and using a 

fare type eligible towards the cap. As shown in Table 3-5, a higher percentage of minority customers 

(13%) do not have access to a smartphone and a credit card compared to non-minority customers (7%). 

TABLE 3-5: DISTRIBUTION OF CUSTOMER SMARTPHONE & CREDIT CARD ACCESS (MINORITY STATUS) 

Access to Both 
Smartphone & Card 

Fare Cap Eligible Ticket Purchases by: 

Systemwide 
Customers 

Minority 
Customers 

Non-Minority 
Customers 

No 386 11% 327 13% 59 7% 

Yes 3,075 89% 2,237 87% 838 93% 

Total 3,461   2,564   897   

Source: CATS 2022 Customer Survey 

Similarly, a higher percentage of low-income customers (14%) do not have access to a smartphone and a 

credit card compared to higher-income customers (10%), as shown in Table 3-6. 

TABLE 3-6: DISTRIBUTION OF CUSTOMER SMARTPHONE & CREDIT CARD ACCESS (INCOME STATUS) 

Access to Both 
Smartphone & Card 

Fare Cap Eligible Ticket Purchases by: 

Systemwide 
Customers 

Low-Income 
Customers 

Higher-Income 
Customers 

No 386 11% 104 14% 282 10% 

Yes 3,075 89% 652 86% 2,423 90% 

Total 3,461   756   2,705   

Source: CATS 2022 Customer Survey 

458



 

  CATS Fare Capping Policy Financial & Equity Assessment | 8 

To help improve access to mobile fares, CATS advertises the Federal Communications Commission's 

income-based Affordable Connectivity Program (ACP) through which qualifying households can receive 

one free smartphone and free monthly service.  

Discounted Fare Cap Policy Consideration 

CATS’ current fare capping policy applies only to full fare options as there is not currently a way to verify 

customer eligibility for discounted fares through purchases in the CATS-Pass app. Should this verification 

mechanism be added, CATS could then explore implementing a discounted fare cap policy.  

Under a proportional fare cap approach, customers eligible for discounted fares would reach a monthly 

cap based on the cost of the discounted monthly fare ($44). This would provide a proportional benefit 

after the same number of trips as a regular-fare rider, and both regular-fare riders and discounted-fare 

riders would experience similar percentage discounts for any number of trips. As noted previously, a 

higher proportion of CATS’ low-income customers use discounted tickets/pass options, but do not 

benefit from a fare cap on the discounted monthly pass value and must, therefore, purchase twice the 

equivalent fare value to gain benefit of the fare cap.  

An analysis of the customer mobile ticket purchases for the April-July dataset used in the financial 

analysis was undertaken to understand the extent of customers who purchase discounted fares and may 

benefit from a proportional discounted fare capping policy (Table 3-7). Using the $44 discounted 

monthly pass as the cap, a significantly higher percentage of customer mobile accounts that purchase 

discounted tickets would likely benefit from the discounted fare cap – 4.8% on average compared to 

0.6% of mobile accounts purchasing full fare tickets (from Table 2-3).   

TABLE 3-7: # OF REDUCED TICKET MOBILE ACCOUNTS WITH FARE CAP REACHED BY ACTIVATION MONTH  

Activation Month 
Total # of 

Mobile 
Accounts* 

Mobile Accounts Where 
Discounted Fare Cap 

Reached* 
Total Fare 

Value* 

$ / % of Total Fare Value 
Exceeding Monthly Fare Cap 

($44)* 
# % 

April 2022 709 34 4.7% $9,304 $916 9.8% 

May 2022 660 21 3.2% $8,538 $586 6.9% 

June 2022 712 24 3.3% $8,720 $736 8.4% 

July 2022 1,254 81 6.4% $19,937 $2,270 11.4% 

Total 3,336 159 -- $46,499 $4,509 -- 

Monthly Average -- -- 4.8% $11,625 $1,127 9.7% 

CATS 2022 Customer Survey; total and monthly percentages reflect weighted averages for the four month period. 

*Includes CATS-Pass accounts with only discounted eligible tickets. Customers that purchased both full fare and 

discounted fare ticket options within a month are not included in this analysis.  

 

 

 

  

459



 

  CATS Fare Capping Policy Financial & Equity Assessment | 9 

Appendix A: Financial Analysis Detail 
 

TABLE A-1: ANALYSIS OF MOBILE ACCOUNTS WITH FARE CAP REACHED  – APRIL 2022 

Mobile 
Account 

Sequence* 

Fare Type & Amount 
Total 
Ticket 
Count 

Total 
Fare 

Value 

Estimated 
Fare Cap 
Benefit 

Monthly 
Pass 

Weekly 
Pass 

Day Pass 
One-Way 

Ticket 

$88.00  $30.80  $6.60  $2.20  

1 1     1 2 $90.20  $2.20  

2 1     1 2 $90.20  $2.20  

3 1     1 2 $90.20  $2.20  

4 1     1 2 $90.20  $2.20  

5 1     1 2 $90.20  $2.20  

6     13 3 16 $92.40  $4.40  

7   3     3 $92.40  $4.40  

8   3     3 $92.40  $4.40  

9 1   1   2 $94.60  $6.60  

10   3   1 4 $94.60  $6.60  

11       43 43 $94.60  $6.60  

12     6 26 32 $96.80  $8.80  

13   3 1   4 $99.00  $11.00  

14   3 1   4 $99.00  $11.00  

15       49 49 $107.80  $19.80  

16       50 50 $110.00  $22.00  

17   4     4 $123.20  $35.20  

18   4     4 $123.20  $35.20  

19   4     4 $123.20  $35.20  

20   4     4 $123.20  $35.20  

21   4     4 $123.20  $35.20  

22   5     5 $154.00  $66.00  

23       75 75 $165.00  $77.00  

Total 6 40 22 252 320 $2,459.60  $435.60  

Source: CATS Mobile Ticket Purchases (April-July 2022) 

*For privacy purposes, individual mobile account #s not shown. 

  

460



 

  CATS Fare Capping Policy Financial & Equity Assessment | 10 

TABLE A-2: ANALYSIS OF MOBILE ACCOUNTS WITH FARE CAP REACHED – MAY 2022 

Mobile 
Account 

Sequence* 

Fare Type & Amount 
Total 
Ticket 
Count 

Total 
Fare 

Value 

Estimated 
Fare Cap 
Benefit 

Monthly 
Pass 

Weekly 
Pass 

Day Pass 
One-Way 

Ticket 

$88.00  $30.80  $6.60  $2.20  

1 1     1 2 $90.20  $2.20  

2       41 41 $90.20  $2.20  

3 1     1 2 $90.20  $2.20  

4 1     1 2 $90.20  $2.20  

5 1     1 2 $90.20  $2.20  

6 1     1 2 $90.20  $2.20  

7 1     1 2 $90.20  $2.20  

8   3     3 $92.40  $4.40  

9   3     3 $92.40  $4.40  

10 1     2 3 $92.40  $4.40  

11 1     2 3 $92.40  $4.40  

12 1     2 3 $92.40  $4.40  

13 1     2 3 $92.40  $4.40  

14   3     3 $92.40  $4.40  

15   3     3 $92.40  $4.40  

16 1   1   2 $94.60  $6.60  

17 1   1   2 $94.60  $6.60  

18       43 43 $94.60  $6.60  

19   3 2   5 $105.60  $17.60  

20   3 3   6 $112.20  $24.20  

21   3   11 14 $116.60  $28.60  

22   4     4 $123.20  $35.20  

23   4     4 $123.20  $35.20  

24   4     4 $123.20  $35.20  

25   5     5 $154.00  $66.00  

26       73 73 $160.60  $72.60  

Total 12 38 7 182 239 $2,673.00  $385.00  

Source: CATS Mobile Ticket Purchases (April-July 2022) 

*For privacy purposes, individual mobile account #s not shown. 

 

  

461



 

  CATS Fare Capping Policy Financial & Equity Assessment | 11 

TABLE A-3: ANALYSIS OF MOBILE ACCOUNTS WITH FARE CAP REACHED – JUNE 2022 

Mobile 
Account 

Sequence* 

Fare Type & Amount 
Total 
Ticket 
Count 

Total 
Fare 

Value 

Estimated 
Fare Cap 
Benefit 

Monthly 
Pass 

Weekly 
Pass 

Day Pass 
One-Way 

Ticket 

$88.00  $30.80  $6.60  $2.20  

1 1     1 2 $90.20  $2.20  

2 1     1 2 $90.20  $2.20  

3 1     1 2 $90.20  $2.20  

4 1     1 2 $90.20  $2.20  

5 1     1 2 $90.20  $2.20  

6 1     1 2 $90.20  $2.20  

7 1     1 2 $90.20  $2.20  

8 1     2 3 $92.40  $4.40  

9   3     3 $92.40  $4.40  

10   3     3 $92.40  $4.40  

11 1     2 3 $92.40  $4.40  

12 1     2 3 $92.40  $4.40  

13 1     2 3 $92.40  $4.40  

14 1     2 3 $92.40  $4.40  

15   3     3 $92.40  $4.40  

16   3     3 $92.40  $4.40  

17   3   1 4 $94.60  $6.60  

18   3   1 4 $94.60  $6.60  

19 1     4 5 $96.80  $8.80  

20     14 4 18 $101.20  $13.20  

21 1   2   3 $101.20  $13.20  

22   3   6 9 $105.60  $17.60  

23   3 2 2 7 $110.00  $22.00  

24   2 9   11 $121.00  $33.00  

25   4     4 $123.20  $35.20  

26   4     4 $123.20  $35.20  

27   4     4 $123.20  $35.20  

28   5     5 $154.00  $66.00  

29       74 74 $162.80  $74.80  

Total 14 43 27 109 193 $2,974.40  $422.40  

Source: CATS Mobile Ticket Purchases (April-July 2022) 

*For privacy purposes, individual mobile account #s not shown. 

 

  

462



 

  CATS Fare Capping Policy Financial & Equity Assessment | 12 

TABLE A-4: ANALYSIS OF MOBILE ACCOUNTS WITH FARE CAP REACHED – JULY 2022 

Mobile 
Account 

Sequence* 

Fare Type & Amount 
Total 
Ticket 
Count 

Total 
Fare 

Value 

Estimated 
Fare Cap 
Benefit 

Monthly 
Pass 

Weekly 
Pass 

Day Pass 
One-Way 

Ticket 

$88.00  $30.80  $6.60  $2.20  

1 1     1 2 $90.20  $2.20  

2 1     1 2 $90.20  $2.20  

3 1     1 2 $90.20  $2.20  

4 1     1 2 $90.20  $2.20  

5 1     1 2 $90.20  $2.20  

6 1     1 2 $90.20  $2.20  

7 1     1 2 $90.20  $2.20  

8 1     1 2 $90.20  $2.20  

9 1     1 2 $90.20  $2.20  

10     14   14 $92.40  $4.40  

11   3     3 $92.40  $4.40  

12   3     3 $92.40  $4.40  

13   3     3 $92.40  $4.40  

14       42 42 $92.40  $4.40  

15 1     2 3 $92.40  $4.40  

16       42 42 $92.40  $4.40  

17 1     2 3 $92.40  $4.40  

18       42 42 $92.40  $4.40  

19 1     2 3 $92.40  $4.40  

20   3     3 $92.40  $4.40  

21 1     2 3 $92.40  $4.40  

22 1   1   2 $94.60  $6.60  

23       43 43 $94.60  $6.60  

24   3   1 4 $94.60  $6.60  

25     1 41 42 $96.80  $8.80  

26 1     4 5 $96.80  $8.80  

27 1   1 1 3 $96.80  $8.80  

28       44 44 $96.80  $8.80  

29     2 38 40 $96.80  $8.80  

30     14 3 17 $99.00  $11.00  

31   3   3 6 $99.00  $11.00  

32   3 1   4 $99.00  $11.00  

33       45 45 $99.00  $11.00  

34   3 1 1 5 $101.20  $13.20  

35   1 11   12 $103.40  $15.40  

36   3   5 8 $103.40  $15.40  

37   3   5 8 $103.40  $15.40  

38   3   5 8 $103.40  $15.40  

39     3 38 41 $103.40  $15.40  

40     16   16 $105.60  $17.60  

41     1 45 46 $105.60  $17.60  

42   3 2   5 $105.60  $17.60  

463



 

  CATS Fare Capping Policy Financial & Equity Assessment | 13 

Mobile 
Account 

Sequence* 

Fare Type & Amount 
Total 
Ticket 
Count 

Total 
Fare 

Value 

Estimated 
Fare Cap 
Benefit 

Monthly 
Pass 

Weekly 
Pass 

Day Pass 
One-Way 

Ticket 

$88.00  $30.80  $6.60  $2.20  

43   3 2   5 $105.60  $17.60  

44   1   34 35 $105.60  $17.60  

45   1 5 20 26 $107.80  $19.80  

46   2 7   9 $107.80  $19.80  

47 1   3   4 $107.80  $19.80  

48   3   7 10 $107.80  $19.80  

49       49 49 $107.80  $19.80  

50       49 49 $107.80  $19.80  

51   3   7 10 $107.80  $19.80  

52   3 2 1 6 $107.80  $19.80  

53   3 2 1 6 $107.80  $19.80  

54   1 11 3 15 $110.00  $22.00  

55       51 51 $112.20  $24.20  

56     5 38 43 $116.60  $28.60  

57     18   18 $118.80  $30.80  

58   4     4 $123.20  $35.20  

59   4     4 $123.20  $35.20  

60   4     4 $123.20  $35.20  

61   4     4 $123.20  $35.20  

62   4     4 $123.20  $35.20  

63   4     4 $123.20  $35.20  

64   4     4 $123.20  $35.20  

65   4     4 $123.20  $35.20  

66   4     4 $123.20  $35.20  

67 1     16 17 $123.20  $35.20  

68   4     4 $123.20  $35.20  

69   4     4 $123.20  $35.20  

70     17 6 23 $125.40  $37.40  

71   4   1 5 $125.40  $37.40  

72 1 1   5 7 $129.80  $41.80  

73       59 59 $129.80  $41.80  

74   4   4 8 $132.00  $44.00  

75       60 60 $132.00  $44.00  

76     21   21 $138.60  $50.60  

77   2   37 39 $143.00  $55.00  

78       65 65 $143.00  $55.00  

Total 19 112 161 978 1270 $8,335.80  $1,471.80  

Source: CATS Mobile Ticket Purchases (April-July 2022) 

*For privacy purposes, individual mobile account #s not shown.

464



465



466



467



468



469



470



471



472



METROPOLITAN TRANSIT COMMISSION 
ACTION ITEM 

STAFF SUMMARY 
 
 
SUBJECT: MTC Approval                 DATE:  April 26, 2023 
  FY2024 Transit Operating Budget & Debt Services Budget 
  FY2024-2028 Transit Capital Investment Plan (CIP) 
 
  
1.0 ACTION: 

In compliance with the Transit Governance Interlocal Agreement, the Metropolitan 
Transit Commission is required to act on CATS’ operating budgets and capital 
improvement plans by April 30 of each year.  
 
MTC Action is included in Resolution 2023-03 

 
2.0 BACKGROUND: 

On January 31, 2023, CATS presented the CEO’s preliminary FY2024 Operating 
Budget, FY2024 Debt Service Budget, and FY2024-2028 Capital Investment Plan (CIP) 
to the Metropolitan Transit Commission.   
 
Key elements of the Operating Budgets are: 
 
 Safety and Security: 

o Additional funds budgeted for safety and security improvements for riders 
and staff.  These include increased funding for our security services 
contract and security improvements to our facilities. 

 Valuing Employees: 
o Funding added to continue addressing short-term compensation and 

staffing issues.  Additional funds also added to start the eServe Academy, 
fund a comprehensive rate and compensation study, and right-size CATS’ 
workforce based on business needs, operational tempo, and other 
requirements. 

 Maintenance and Asset Preservation: 
o Increased maintenance funding for facilities, bus, and rail. 

 
Key elements of the Capital Budgets are: 
 
 State of Good Repair: 

o Priorities including accelerated replacement of fixed route buses with 
hybrid and fully electric buses, Special Transportation Services (STS) 
buses, and Vanpool Vehicles.  Additional funding has also been 
programed to ensure buses, rail vehicles, and supporting facilities are 
maintained at acceptable levels. 

 Transit Safety & Security: 
o Upgrading cameras, replacing mobile video systems, and replacing 

access control systems are included in this category. 
 Long-Range Capital Improvements: 

o Includes funding for an ADA Transition Plan, Silverline Design, and 
Platform Extensions. 

 Technology Upgrades: 
o Focuses on enhancing delivery of transit services, asset & financial 

management, including replacing the City’s Enterprise System,  

473



 
3.0 RECOMMENDATION: 

CATS Chief Executive Officer recommends approval of the following budgets: 
FY2024 Operating Budget  
FY2024 Debt Service Budget 
FY2024-2028 Capital Investment Plan 
  

4.0 ATTACHMENT(S):  CATS FY2024 Proposed Operating and Debt Service Budget and 
FY2024-2028 Proposed Capital Investment Plan Information Booklet (Submitted 
separately prior to meeting) 

 
   SUBMITTED AND RECOMMENDED BY: 
 

     
   ______________________________________________  
   Brent Cagle 
   Interim Chief Executive Officer, Charlotte Area Transit System  
   Assistant City Manager, City of Charlotte 

474



RESOLUTION 
No. 2023-03 

 
ADOPTION OF THE FY2024 TRANSIT OPERATING BUDGET, FY2024 TRANSIT DEBT SERVICE 

BUDGET AND FY2024-2028 CAPITAL INVESTMENT PLAN 

A motion was made by __________ (__________) and seconded by __________ (__________) for the 
adoption of the following resolution, and upon being put to a vote was duly adopted by the Metropolitan 
Transit Commission (MTC). 

 WHEREAS, The Amended Transit Governance Interlocal Agreement (11-28-2005) provides that 
the Chief Transit Official shall submit to the MTC by January 30 of each year a proposed transit budget 
and program delineating the public transit services, activities and programs to be undertaken in the 
upcoming fiscal year starting July 1, and the financial resources required to carry out the services, 
activities and programs, and 

 WHEREAS, the Chief Transit Official provided preliminary budget and program 
recommendations to the MTC on January 31, 2023, which have been developed in compliance with 
CATS Mission, Vision, Strategic Goals and Financial and Fare Policies, and 

 WHEREAS, the Chief Transit Official’s recommended budgets and programs have been 
reviewed by the Citizens Transit Advisory Group and the Transit Services Advisory Committee in 
accordance with the provisions of the Transit Governance Interlocal Agreement and the Metropolitan 
Transit Commission Rules of Procedures, and 

 WHEREAS the Metropolitan Transit Commission has reviewed the recommended FY2024 
Transit Operating and Debt Service Budgets and Programs and the FY2024-2028 Capital Investment 
Plan and Projects to determine the transit program plans for meeting transportation needs of the 
Charlotte-Mecklenburg community, 

 NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved that the Metropolitan Transit Commission hereby 

1. Approves the FY2024 Transit Operating Budget, the FY2024 Transit Debt Service Budget 
and the FY2024-2028 Transit Capital Investment Plan (attached to this Resolution) 

2. Authorizes Chief Transit Official to present the FY2024 Transit Operating Budget, the 
FY2024 Debt Service Budget and the FY2024-2028 Capital Investment Plan to the Charlotte 
City Council for their review, approval, and inclusion in the City of Charlotte’s FY2024 
Budget Ordinance. 

This resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption. 

 

I, City of Charlotte Mayor Vi Lyles, Chairwoman of the Metropolitan Transit Commission do 
hereby certify that the above Resolution is a true and correct documentation of the MTC’s action from 
their meeting duly held on April 26, 2023. 

 

_________________________________   
 Signature of MTC Chairwoman  

475



476



477



478



479



480



481



482



483


	Cover 20230426
	MTC Agenda 20230426
	MTC Minutes Draft 202303
	NCDOT Letter for 3-22-23
	Ridership Memo for 3-22-23
	BEB Memo for 3-22-23
	Security Contract and Programs Memo for 3-22-23
	File2. 4.26.2022 MTC Agenda Item 5 Materials
	File3. May21.2022 Materials - Incident Report
	File4. May21.2022 Materials - NCDOT Communications
	File5. May21.2022 Materials - LRV Maintenance Records
	File6. May21.2022 Materials - Siemens Report
	File7. 2022 FTA Triennial Review
	File8. Transpro Scope of Work
	Monthly Security Report
	MTC Ridership Monthly Report
	MTC APC Ridership March 2023
	Sales Tax Report Mar 2023
	Slide Number 1

	MTC Info Item #1- Service Level Update 042623
	STAFF SUMMARY
	SUBJECT:  Transit Services Update          DATE: April 26, 2023


	PP#1-Service Level
	MTC Info Item #2 - Silver Line LPA (Amity Garden)
	SUBJECT:  LYNX Silver Line Refined Locally                    DATE: April 26, 2023
	Preferred Alternative (LPA) Potential Amity Gardens
	Station Removal

	PP#2-LPA Amity Garden
	MTC Info Item #3 - Fare Equity Analysis
	STAFF SUMMARY
	SUBJECT: Fare Equity Analysis CATS Fare Capping            DATE: April 26, 2023


	CATS Fare Capping Policy_Financial & Equity Assessment_02142023
	PP#3-Fare Capping
	MTC Action Item #1 - FY-24 Proposed budget
	STAFF SUMMARY
	SUBJECT: MTC Approval                 DATE:  April 26, 2023
	FY2024 Transit Operating Budget & Debt Services Budget


	MTC Action Item #1A - FY-24 Budget Resolution 2023-03
	PP#4-ActionFY24Budget
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



